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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this Report under the captitam 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysisimdncial Condition and Results of
Operations," Iltem 1, "Business", Iltem 3, "Legald@®dings" and elsewhere in this Report constitigievard-looking statements" within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Refokat of 1995 (the "Reform Act"). Such forward-lookj statements involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors tviniay cause the actual results, performance oegefents of Halsey Drug Co., Inc.
("Halsey" or the "Company"), or industry resultsbie materially different from any future resufieyformance, or achievements expressed or
implied by such forward-looking statements. Sudldes include, among others, the following: changageneral economic and business
conditions; loss of market share through competitiotroduction of competing products by other camigs; the timing of regulatory
approval and the introduction of new products ey @mmpany; changes in industry capacity; pressugices from competition or from
purchasers of the Company's products; regulatcsmgés in the generic pharmaceutical manufactunidgsitry; difficulties encountered in t
development of novel product synthesis and manuifsagt techniques; regulatory obstacles to the duotion of new technologies or prodi
that are important to the Company's growth; avditgtof qualified personnel; the loss of any sificant customers; and other factors both
referenced and not referenced in this Report. Wisexd in this Report, the words "estimate," "proje@nticipate,” "expect," “intend,"
"believe," and similar expressions are intendeid¢ntify forward-looking statements.

2



PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
GENERAL

The Company, a New York corporation establishet9i®5, and its subsidiaries, are engaged in thelal@went, manufacture, sale and
distribution of generic drugs and active pharmacauingredients ("APIs"). A generic drug is thesafical and therapeutic equivalent of a
brand-name drug for which patent protection hasresipA generic drug may only be manufactured aoid & patents (and any additional
government-granted exclusivity periods) relatinghte brand-name equivalent of the generic drug leapé&ed. A generic drug is usually
marketed under its generic chemical name or untbeared name developed by the generic manufacflineough its strategic alliance with
Watson Pharmaceuticals, as described below, thep@oyrsells its generic drug products under the Bvatame for distribution by Watson
to drugstore chains and drug wholesalers. Whilgestito the same governmental standards for safedyefficacy as its brand-name
equivalent, a generic drug is usually sold at egsubstantially below that of its brand-name eajeint.

APIs, also known as bulk chemical products, arel irs¢he development and manufacture of finisheshde pharmaceutical products. The
development and sale of APIs generally is not sultgethe same level of regulation as is the dgyakent and sale of finished dosage
products. As a result, APIs may be brought to naskbstantially sooner than finished dosage praduct

The Company manufactures its products at faciliiedew York and Indiana. During the last severdng, the Company has sought to
diversify its businesses through strategic acqaistand alliances and through the developmereatifrtologies for the synthesis and
production of APIs intended for sale to third pastas well as for use by the Company and othemaamaterials in the manufacture of
finished drug forms. The Company's primary emphiasikis regard, and for which the Company is cotting the substantial majority of the
Company's resources and sources of available tapithe development of novel opiate synthesistietogies which the Company expect:
use in the manufacture of APIs and finished dogmgducts indicated for pain management.

RECENT EVENTS
OPIATE SYNTHESIS TECHNOLOGIES

On February 21, 2001, Halsey acquired an exclugiease to a technology providing for an efficiésdlation of thebaine from raw opium
(the "Licensed Technology"). The primary derivatofehebaine is oxycodone, an APl used in pain maneent pharmaceutical products.
Licensed Technology was acquired from Robert Cc@Qamn ("Corcoran™) and BioFine Pharmaceuticals, (t®ioFine"). The license
agreement grants Halsey exclusive, world-wide sghtthe Licensed Technology for twenty years,raftieich time Halsey will have a fully
paid, non-exclusive license. The license agreementides that Corcoran and BioFine are to receivaggregate royalty of up to six percent
(6%) on net sales of APIs synthesized using therised Technology. The Company is continuing it$ng®f the Licensed Technology
under laboratory conditions to determine proof@iaept and likelihood of successful use in comna¢pmioduction.

In addition to the Licensed Technology, Halsey dh@seloped internally both an opiate isolation sgstb process which the Company
believes provides an efficient and ceffiective alternative to the extraction of morphared codeine from raw opium (the "IMP Process"}i
an alternate development synthesis route for theufaature of other pain management products (thew'Synthesis Process", and together
with the Licensed Technology, collectively the "@gi Synthesis Technologies"). To date, the Compasysuccessfully completed
laboratory-scale proof of concept testing on eddheIMP Process and the New Synthesis Procegge&uo the Company's receipt of the
approval of the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administrat{tDEA") to permit the Company's manufacture of&aule 1l to V controlled
substances, as to which no assurance can be ¢fime@ompany will continue the development of thé’IM
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Process and the New Synthesis Process with thettjom of manufacturing opiate-derived APIs amistied dosage pain management
products in the future.

Each of the Opiate Synthesis Technologies are mreelesses intended to be more efficient and dfesttee methods of deriving APIs to be
used in the manufacture of finished dosage pairagement products by substantially reducing the &ingk steps required to produce the
desired API. The Company filed definitive patenplégations with the U.S. Patent and Trademark @ffic October, 2001 for the Licensed
Technology. It is also the Company's expectatioprépare and file patent applications covering eddhe IMP Process and the New
Synthesis Process. No assurance can be given, boweat a patent will be issued on any of the @p&ynthesis Technologies.

The development and license of the Opiate Syntiesibnologies demonstrates the Company's contireffogts to develop and manufactt
APIs with an emphasis on pain management prodiibhss Company estimates that the market for pain gemant products in the United
States is approximately $2 billion and is growingpproximately 20% per year. In addition to ityelepment efforts relating to the Opiate
Synthesis Technologies, the Company is a partgteeaments with Watson Pharmaceuticals (see "R&saamits -- Strategic Alliance with
Watson Pharmaceuticals" below) providing for Watseight to negotiate for a supply of select ARlsrently in development and to be
developed by the Company. It is the Company's titerio continue its focus on pain management petsdly developing APls incorporati
the Opiate Synthesis Technologies and other teores developed internally by the Company or lieehfsom third parties. Such
development efforts may be performed solely byGbenpany or in partnership with thigghrty manufacturers. It is the Company's expeat
to use such APIs in the Company's own manufactutlesale of finished dosage pharmaceutical procagtsell as to sell such APIs to third
parties.

The development, marketing and sale of pain manageproducts incorporating the Opiate Synthesisifielbgies is subject to extensive
regulation by the DEA and the U.S. Food and Drugnidstration ("FDA"). At present, the Company's ARanufacturing facility located in
Culver, Indiana is approved to manufacture Scheldlal controlled substances. In order to contirtine development and commercialization
of the Opiate Synthesis Technologies, the Compahy®required to obtain an amendment to its @éxisDEA manufacturing registration as
well as to obtain a narcotic raw material impodis¢ration from the DEA. The Company has filed ameadment to the Company's existing
Schedule 1lI-N manufacturing registration with fDEA to permit the Company to manufacture Scheduie V controlled substances (the
"Manufacturing Registration"). In addition, the Cpamy has filed for DEA approval to import raw pogpyectly from India and Turkey to t
used in the Company's API development and manufagtefforts (the "Import Registration"). At presethe Company believes that only
three manufacturers in the United States possessiisyport registrations.

In order for the Company to receive the ManufacmiiRegistration, the Company is in the proces®ofpleting the necessary security and
related improvements to its Culver, Indiana mantwfideg facility. As of December 31, 2001 the Compaad expended $254,000 on such
capital improvements and had budgeted an addit®&3&J000 to complete the necessary improvemenisf @which have been completed at
March 31, 2002. The Company anticipates receiftt@Manufacturing Registration in the second quat®002 (permitting the Company to
manufacture Schedule Il to V controlled substameesrelated APIs with narcotic raw materials sodritem third parties in the U.S.)

With respect to the Company's application to théAD& the Import Registration, the Company's apgtien request was published in the
Federal Register on September 6, 2001. Within théa¥ period provided under DEA guidelines, thragips, including the two companies
that represent the largest importers of narcoticmaterials used to manufacture controlled substgrtave requested a hearing to formally
object to the Company's request for an Import Regien. In their hearing request, the objectingipa oppose the DEA's issuance to the
Company of an Import Registration on various grajmacluding that the Company's application beedlgyending the resolution of three (3)
pending import registration requests from othetipsy that the issuance of an Import Registratiotne Company has the potential for
increasing the prices for narcotic raw materiadgrfiforeign sources as a result of increased derfrandU.S. manufacturers, that the
Company lacks the experience, technology, persamtkkapital to process
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narcotic raw materials, and that the competitiothenmarketplace for pain management productsdgate.

In response to the requests for a hearing fromr attamufacturers of narcotic products, the Compdeg & written request to the DEA to
obtain approval for the Company's Import Registragipplication without the requirement of an adstiaitive hearing as requested by the
objecting parties. In this regard, the Company selithe DEA that none of the objecting partiesthadight to an administrative hearing
under the Controlled Substances Import and Expott Phe Company asserted in its written responsea®EA that notwithstanding the
DEA's previous history of allowing such administrathearings, the right to any such hearing unlderGontrolled Substances Import and
Export Act does not apply to the Company's appboaas all of the objecting parties manufacturésfied dosage narcotic products and fa
satisfy the statutory requirement of being a mactufar of opium or poppy straw concentrate. In oese, the Office of the Chief Counsel of
the DEA has advised the Company that the Compéamysrt Registration application, the Company's otigm to an administrative hearing
and the request by objectors for an administrdtearing has been referred to the Office of Admiatste Law Judges ("OALJ") for review.
In the event the Company prevails in its positioat tan administrative hearing is not required unkerdaw, the DEA could complete its
review of the Company's Import Registration appiarawithin a period of 18 months. In the event QAdetermines that an administrative
hearing is required under the law, the Companyredts that a final resolution of the Company's Irhpegistration application will occur
during the first quarter of 2004.

Regardless of whether an administrative hearimgdsired, no assurance can be given that the Coyfgplanport Registration application will
be approved by the DEA. As part of the DEA's arialgs to whether the issuance of an Import Regjisiréo the Company is appropriate,
DEA will consider, among other things, whether adeq security safeguards and controls exist aCtmapany's Culver, Indiana facility and
at all points in the chain of transfer of the ramppy from suppliers in India and Turkey to the Camys Culver facility, whether the Opiate
Synthesis Technologies are viable and efficient@sses, whether market demand for pain managenmazhiqts supports the approval of
another import source, and whether the Compangstablished itself as an eligible party to sourw @btain raw poppy supplies from
foreign sources. The Company is currently makirggrtbcessary upgrades to its Culver, Indiana faahid establishing points of supply in
foreign markets to meet these DEA requirements.

The development and commercialization of APIs anidlied dosage products incorporating the Opiatdt®gis Technologies are subject to
various factors, many of which are outside the Camyfs control. Specifically, the Opiate Synthesisfihologies have been tested only in
laboratory or controlled pilot study settings anitl meed to be successfully "scaled up" in ordebéocommercially viable, of which no
assurance can be given. Additionally, the Compangtreatisfy, and continue to maintain compliancywhe DEA's requirements for the
issuance and maintenance of a Manufacturing Ragimtrand an Import Registration. Even assumindmpany can satisfy the DEA's
requirements in this regard, no assurance canvea ginat the Company will prevail in any hearingthwhe OALJ at which third-party
manufacturers already possessing import registratidll object to any proposed issuance by the EAn Import Registration to the
Company. The process of seeking an Import Registraind contesting opposition proceedings, as agethe continuing development of the
Opiate Synthesis Technologies, may continue thr@@fi. The Company is currently unable to providg @ssurance that the Opiate
Synthesis Technologies will be commercially viabtehat the Company will succeed in obtaining apdm Registration. The Company is
committing the substantial majority of its resows,cavailable capital and cash flow from operatimnthe development of the Opiate Synth
Technologies and to the receipt of the Import Reagfi®on. The failure of the Company to successfdiyelop the Opiate Synthesis
Technologies or to obtain the Import Registratidh rave a material adverse effect on the Compamgyérations and financial condition. The
Company's cash flow and limited sources of avadldilancing make it uncertain that the Company halve sufficient capital to continue to
fund operations or to otherwise complete the dgoraknt of the Opiate Synthesis Technologies, toiob&guired DEA approvals and to fund
the capital improvements necessary for the manufactf APIs and finished dosage products incorfpagahe Opiate Synthesis
Technologies. See Item 7. "Management's DiscussidnAnalysis of Financial Condition and Result©gpfkrations -- Liquidity and Capital
Resources" for a discussion of the Company's neeadditional financing and estimated capital regui
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ments for the development of the Opiate Syntheschifiologies, for the receipt of DEA approvals asdmprovements to its manufacturing
facilities.

STRATEGIC ALLIANCE WITH WATSON PHARMACEUTICALS

On March 29, 2000, the Company completed variaadegiic alliance transactions with Watson Pharmiéeas, Inc. ("Watson"). The
transactions with Watson provided for Watson's pase of the Company's then pending ANDA for doxliogccapsules USP, 50 mg and
100mg (the "doxycycline ANDA"), for Watson's rightsnegotiate for Halsey to manufacture and suppiyain identified future products to
be developed by Halsey, for Watson's marketingsatel of the Company's core products and for Watsodension of a $17,500,000 term
loan to the Company.

The product acquisition portion of the transactiaith Watson provided for Halsey's sale of the pegdloxycycline ANDA and related
rights (the "Product") to Watson for an aggregatesaderation of $13,500,000 (the "Product AcquisitAgreement"). The final installment
the purchase price for the Product of $3.5 milkeas paid by Watson to the Company on July 10, 288%art of the execution of the
Product Acquisition Agreement, the Company and \WWfaexecuted ten year supply agreements coveringRthand finished dosage form of
the Product pursuant to which Halsey, at Watsdeietion, will manufacture and supply Watson'sursgments for the Product API and,
where the Product API is sourced from the Comp#nigshed dosage forms of the Product.

The Company and Watson also executed a rightsifrfiggotiation agreement providing Watson withrst fight to negotiate the terms under
which the Company would manufacture and supplyagegpecified APIs and finished dosage productsetdeveloped by the Company. The
right of first negotiation agreement provides thpbn Watson's exercise of its right to negotiatetie supply of a particular product, the
parties will negotiate the specific terms of thenofacturing and supply arrangement, including pna@imum purchase requirements, if a
territory and term. In the event Watson does net@se its right of first negotiation upon noticerh the Company, or in the event the parties
are unable to reach agreement on the material tefmsupply arrangement relating to such produtttimsixty (60) days of Watson's
exercise of its right to negotiate for such prodtitet Company may negotiate with third partiestifier supply, marketing and sale of the
applicable product. The right of first negotiatiagreement has a term of ten years, subject to @atem the absence of written notice from
either party for two additional periods of five ye&ach. The right of first negotiation agreememiias only to API and finished dosage
products identified in the agreement and does th@ravise prohibit the Company from developing ABidinished dosage products for itself
or third parties.

The Company and Watson also executed a manufagtanid supply agreement providing for Watson's ntargeand sale of the Company's
existing core products portfolio (the "Core Produstipply Agreement"). Pursuant to the terms oftbee Products Supply Agreement,
Watson was required to purchase and pay for orageqly basis a minimum of $3,060,000 for prodwsetsplied by the Company under such
Agreement. For the three quarters ending Decenthe2®0, Watson made an advance payment to the &ongf approximately $4,402,0
as required under the terms of the Core Produgipi$greement to be applied against future proguethases under such Agreement. The
advance payments and any additional advance pagmede by Watson under the Core Products Supplgehgent will require that the
Company supply Watson with a like amount of prodweithout additional payments from Watson at suciet On August 8, 2001, the
Company and Watson executed an amendment to tlieeRZoducts Supply Agreement (the "Core Productsnsiment") providing (i) for a
reduction of Watson's minimum purchase requiremizais $3,060,000 to $1,500,000 per quarter, (if)do extension of Watson's minimum
purchase requirements from the quarter ending 8dy@e30, 2001 to quarter ending September 30, 2002,

(iii) for Watson to recover previous advance paytmenade under the Core Products Supply Agreemeheiform of the Company's
provision of products having a purchase price ofa§750,000 per quarter (such credit amount tmlexcess of Watson's $1,500,000
minimum quarterly purchase obligation), and

(iv) for the Company's repayment to Watson of aamaining advance payments made by Watson undé&diteProducts Supply Agreement
(and which amount has not been recovered by prathisteries by the Company to Watson as provide8lihsection (iii) above) in two (2)
equal monthly installments on



October 1, 2002 and November 1, 2002. As of Decerdbe2001, Watson's advance payments were $40@30d the Company has
provided for the cost of satisfying its obligatimnWatson.

Pending the Company's development and receipigodatory approval for its APIs and finished dosagaducts currently under developme
and the marketing and sale of same, of which tbanebe no assurance, substantially all the Compaayenues will be derived from the C
Products Supply Agreement with Watson.

The final component of the Company's strategiaatle with Watson provided for Watson's extensiothefWatson Term Loan to the
Company. The loan is secured by a first lien omBthe Company's assets, senior to the lien segafl other Company indebtedness and
carries a floating rate of interest equal to priphes two percent. As of December 31, 2001, thee®l 7.5 million available under the Wat:
Term Loan had been advanced to the Company. Theroeteds from the term loan have, in large pagntused to upgrade and equip the
API manufacturing facility of Houba, Inc. locatedCulver, Indiana, the Company's wholly-owned sdilasy, to upgrade and equip the
Company's Congers, New York leased facilities atisfy approximately $3,300,000 in bridge financprgvided by Galen Partners and for
working capital to fund continued operations. (3ésm 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis n&Rcial Condition and Results of
Operations" for a more detailed discussion of the&ddh Term Loan.)

CESSATION AND RELOCATION OF BROOKLYN, NEW YORK OPER ATIONS

On March 22, 2000 the Company executed a Leaseifiation and Settlement Agreement with the landlwfrthe Company's Brooklyn, Ne
York manufacturing facility (the "Settlement Agreent"). The Settlement Agreement provides for théyg¢armination of the lease covering
the Brooklyn facility and provides the Company wiitle time necessary to transfer operations to tiragainy's Congers, New York facilities
and cease all manufacturing, research and develupaned warehouse operations currently conduct@&ltaoklyn. The Settlement Agreement
provides for the termination of the Brooklyn fatyillease on March 31, 2001. The original lease ipiexy/for a term expiring December 31,
2005 with a rental payment obligation of $6,715,d0€ing the period from September 1, 2000 throughe®nber 31, 2005.

The Settlement Agreement provided for the Comparaysnent of a termination fee of $1,150,000, theaade payment of rent through
August 31, 2000 and the deposit of a restoraticrogsof $200,000 to be used for facility repaireeTCompany also deposited $390,600 in
escrow with its counsel to cover rental paymenigte period September 1, 2000 through March 3@12The rent escrow amount was
released to the landlord on September 1, 2000.ebnuary 25, 2002, $120,000 of the $200,000 restorascrow amount was returned to the
Company. The Company recorded a total charge agzansings of approximately $3,341,000 resultirgnfithe elimination of its Brooklyn,
New York operations. See "ltem 7. Management'suRision and Analysis of Financial Condition and Rssaf Operations” for a moi
detailed discussion of this charge against earnings

As of March 31, 2001, all of the Company's Brookiganufacturing operations ceased.
LEASE OF CONGERS, NEW YORK FACILITY (WELLS AVENUE L OCATION)

Effective July 1, 2000, the Company leased, astenlant, a facility located at 125 Wells Avenuen@ers, New York (the "Wells Avenue
Facility"). The Wells Avenue Facility contains affi, warehouse and manufacturing space and is dpmatety 18,000 square feet. The Lease
provides for a term of four years with an optiomreaew for an additional three years and providesihnual fixed rent of approximately
$127,000 per year during the first two years oflthase and approximately $135,000 per year duhiaddst two years.

ACQUISITION OF PRODUCT ANDAS

On April 16, 1999, the Company completed an actjaisagreement with Barr Laboratories, Inc. ("Baptoviding for the Company's
purchase of the rights to 50 pharmaceutical prad({ibe "Barr Products"). Under the terms of theuition agreement with Barr, the
Company acquired all of Barr's rights



in the Barr Products, including all related goveemtal approvals (including ANDAS) and related téchhdata and information. In
consideration for the acquisition of the Barr Praduthe Company issued to Barr a common stockhpsewarrant exercisable for 500,000
shares of the Company's common stock having arcieggorice of $1.0625 per share (the fair markktevaf the Common Stock on the date
of issuance) and having a term of five years. Tdguition agreement with Barr also allows Barptwchase any of the Barr Products
manufactured by the Company for a period of fivarge

The Barr Products acquired by the Company wereiqusly marketed by Barr, prior to its decision taagegically refocus its generic product
portfolio several years ago. While the Barr Prodwtiver a broad range of therapeutic applicatiodsase the subject of approved ANDAS,
the Company will be required to obtain approvaifrihe FDA to permit manufacture and sale of anthefBarr Products, including site
specific approval. The Company initially has idéatl 8 of the products for which it will devote sténtial effort in seeking approval from
FDA for manufacture and sale. The Company estinthtgscertain of these Barr Products will be adddeor sale in the fourth quarter of
2002, although no assurance can be given thatfaimwe @arr Products will receive FDA approval oatlif approved, that the Company will
be successful in the manufacture and sale of ttle groducts. It is the Company's intention to ammito evaluate the remaining Barr
Products on an ongoing basis to assess their prssfoe commercialization and likelihood of obtaigiregulatory approval.

PRODUCTS AND PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT
GENERIC FINISHED DRUG PRODUCTS

The Company historically has manufactured and adicbad range of prescription and over-the-cowieg products. The Company's
pharmaceutical product list currently includestaltof approximately 24 products, consisting ofdb8age forms and strengths of prescription
drugs and 6 dosage forms and strengths of ovecdbater drugs. Each dosage form and strength aftacplar drug is considered in the
industry to be a separate drug product. The Compalnyg products are sold in various forms, inalgdiquid and powder preparations,
compressed tablets and two-piece, hard-shelledisps

Most of the generic drug products manufacturechiey@Gompany can be classified within one of theofeihg categories:
1. Antibiotics,

2. Narcotic analgesics,

3. Anti-infective and anti-tubercular drugs,

4. Antihistamines and antihistaminic decongestants,

5. Antitussives, or

6. Steroids

During fiscal 2001, sales of antibiotics and nacahalgesics accounted for approximately 74.4%ebfproduct sales during such year. The
Company anticipates that sales of antibiotics ardatic analgesics will continue to represent aificant portion of the Company's revenue.

The Company's development strategy for new drudymis has been to focus on the development ofadbrange of generic form drugs,
each of which (i) has developed a solid market jgieceee with a wide base of customers, (i) candbe an a profitable basis notwithstanding
intense competition from other drug manufacturang (iii) is no longer under patent protection. TBmmpany has also diversified its current
product line to include some less widely prescribadys as to which limited competition might be ested.

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001Cim@pany received four ANDA amendments consistingroducts transferred from ot
Company locations and submitted six ANDA supplerm@ntamendments to the FDA. During fiscal 2002,Goenpany anticipates the
submission of four ANDA supplements or amendmemtfi¢ FDA. The supplements and amendments reldie tmansfer of existing
ANDAs from the Company's Brooklyn facility to itso@gers facility as well as the transfer of certaDAS obtained from Barr
Laboratories. Although the Company has been sutdésseceiving ANDA approvals
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since its release from the FDA's Application IntggPolicy list in December 1996, there can be ssusance that any newly submitted
ANDAs, or supplements or amendments thereto orticostemplated to be submitted, will be approvethkey=DA. The Company will not
be permitted to market any new product unless atitithe FDA approves the ANDA relating to such gwat. Failure to obtain FDA appro
for the Company's pending ANDAS, or a significaalay in submitting for or obtaining such approwahuld adversely affect the Company's
business operations and financial condition.

Development activities for each new generic drugfpct begin several years in advance of the patgitation date of the brand-name drug
equivalent. This is because the profitability ofeav generic drug usually depends on the abilitthefCompany to obtain FDA approval to
market that drug product upon or immediately atfterpatent expiration date of the equivalent braahe drug. Being among the first to
market a new generic drug product is vital to thaitability of the product. As other off-patentudy manufacturers receive FDA approvals on
competing generic products, prices and revenuésaiypdecline. Accordingly, the Company's abilityattain profitable operations will, in
large part, depend on its ability to develop aritbiiuce new products, the timing of receipt of FBgproval of such products and the number
and timing of FDA approvals for competing products.

While the Company will continue the developmenit®finished goods pharmaceutical business, inolydhe rehabilitation of the product
ANDAs acquired from Barr, the Company will dedicatereasing resources to the expansion and enhamterhits operations devoted to
development and manufacture of APIs and finishexhde products incorporating the Opiate Synthesibi@ogies. See "Recent Events --
Opiate Synthesis Technologies".

ACTIVE PHARMACEUTICAL INGREDIENTS

As discussed above under the caption "Opiate Sgigti@chnologies", in the last few years, the Camggaas increased its efforts to develop
and manufacture APIs, also known as bulk chemigadyrcts. The development and sale of APIs geneistipt subject to the same level of
regulation as is the development and sale of dradyzts. Accordingly, APIs may be brought to mardbstantially sooner than drug
products. Although the Company did not generatemaes from the sale of API's in fiscal 2001, ihis Company's expectation that its
strategic alliance with Watson and the continuedetimment of the Opiate Synthesis Technologiesaahner API development efforts, in
addition to assisting in the expansion of the Camyfsaline of finished dosage products, will genera&venues from the sale of products using
internally produced APIs starting in the fourth geaof 2002 and such revenue segment will likalyréase thereafter as a percentage of total
revenue.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The Company currently conducts research and dewanpactivities at each of its Congers, New Yor#t @ulver, Indiana facilities. The
Company's research and development activities sopsimarily of the development of the Opiate Sysik Technologies, including the
development for sale of new chemical products aedievelopment of APIs, as well as new generic groguct development efforts and
manufacturing process improvements. New drug priodereelopment activities are primarily directedanducting research studies to
develop generic drug formulations, reviewing arslitgy such formulations for therapeutic equivaletocbrand name products and additional
testing in areas such as bioavailability, bioeqgieinee and shelf-life. For fiscal years 2001, 2000 4999, total research and development
expenditures were $1,327,000, $1,821,000 and $00@5respectively. During 2001, the Company'saedeand development efforts will
cover finished dosage products and APIs in a wadétherapeutic applications, with an emphasipaim management products.

As of March 31, 2002, the Company maintained atfoilke staff of 10 in its Research and Developmegp&tments.
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MARKETING AND CUSTOMERS

The application of the FDA Application Integrity IRy list to the Company's operations until Decemb@96, combined with the Company's
continuing operating losses and lack of adequat&iwg capital during fiscal 1997 and the first giearof 1998 resulted in the Company's
inability to maintain sufficient raw materials afidished goods inventories to permit the Compangdtively solicit customer orders, and
when orders were received, to fill such orders gothyn Following the completion in March 1998 of tbfering with Galen Partners (the
"Galen Offering"), new management adopted a margettrategy focused on developing and maintainifficgeent raw materials and finishi
goods inventories so as to permit a targeted sdles by the Company to a core customer grouph &it emphasis on quality, prompt proc
delivery and excellent customer service.

The strategic alliance with Watson entered intdvtamch 29, 2000 provides for the Company's core petslportfolio to be sold by Watson's
sales force under Watson's label. Accordingly,@Gbenpany has discontinued its own sales efforteedé products. The Company continues
to perform limited contract manufacturing of cemtabon-core products for other pharmaceutical congsan

During 2001, 86% of the Company's total produceraies were to Watson Pharmaceuticals pursuang t8dre Products Supply Agreement
between the Company and Watson (See "Recent Evedtisategic Alliance with Watson Pharmaceutical¥je Company believes that the
loss of this customer would have a material adveffeet on the Company. During 2000, 59% of the @any's total product revenues wer
Watson Pharmaceuticals. During 1999, the Compadyphaduct revenues to one customer, aggregating=zippately 16% of total product
sales.

The estimated dollar amount of the backlog of ader future delivery as of March 31, 2002 was agpnately $5,700,000 as compared v
approximately $4,000,000 as of March 31, 2001. dtgh these orders are subject to cancellation, geament expects to fill substantially all
orders by the second and third quarter of 2002.ifitrease in the Company's backlog as of Marcl28@2 compared to that for the
comparable date in 2001 is largely a function ofremease in market penetration from marketingrésfoy Watson as well as delayed orders
as a result of temporary shortages of certain raterals.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION
GENERAL

All pharmaceutical manufacturers, including the @amy, are subject to extensive regulation by treéeFa government, principally by the
FDA, and, to a lesser extent, by state and loce¢gonents. Additionally, the Company is subjectxtensive regulation by the U.S. Drug
Enforcement Agency ("DEA") as a manufacturer oftonlied substances. The Company cannot prediotttent to which it may be affected
by legislative and other regulatory developmentsceoning its products and the healthcare industnegally. The Federal Food, Drug, and
Cosmetic Act, the Generic Drug Enforcement Act @92, the Controlled Substance Act and other Fedéaitites and regulations govern or
influence the testing, manufacture, safe labebtorage, record keeping, approval, pricing, adsiagi, promotion, sale and distribution of
pharmaceutical products. Noncompliance with applEaequirements can result in fines, recall oz of products, criminal proceedings,
total or partial suspension of production, and sefwf the government to enter into supply consractto approve new drug applications. The
FDA also has the authority to revoke approvalsesf nirug applications. The ANDA drug development apgroval process now averages
approximately eight months to two years. The aparpvocedures are generally costly and time consgmi

FDA approval is required before any "new drug," thlee prescription or over-thesunter, can be marketed. A "new drug" is one eoegally
recognized by qualified experts as safe and effedtr its intended use. Such general recognitiostrhe based on published adequate and
well controlled clinical investigations. No "newudy" may be introduced into commerce without FDArappl. A drug which is the "generic”
equivalent of a previously approved prescriptiomgdalso will require FDA approval. Furthermore, ledosage form of a specific generic
drug product requires separate approval by the RD&eneral, as
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discussed below, less costly and time consumingogppprocedures may be used for generic equivakemtompared to the innovative
products. Among the requirements for drug appr@/tiat the prospective manufacturer's methods oardbrm to the CGMPs. CGMPs
apply to the manufacture, receiving, holding angmihg of all drugs, whether or not approved by BiA. CGMPs must be followed at all
times during which the drug is manufactured. Tauemd$ull compliance with standards, some of whish set forth in regulations, the
Company must continue to expend time, money amatteff the areas of production and quality contfalilure to so comply risks delays in
approval of drugs, disqualification from eligibjlito sell to the government, and possible FDA ezgorent actions, such as an injunction
against shipment of the Company's products, treusebf noncomplying drug products, and/or, in@gsicases, criminal prosecution. The
Company's manufacturing facilities are subjectadqalic inspection by the FDA.

In addition to the regulatory approval process,Gloenpany is subject to regulation under Federatesind local laws, including requirements
regarding occupational safety, laboratory practieesironmental protection and hazardous substemactol, and may be subject to other
present and future local, state, Federal and foneggulations, including possible future regulasiarf the pharmaceutical industry.

DRUG APPROVALS
There are currently three ways to obtain FDA apako¥ a new drug.

1. New Drug Applications ("NDA"). Unless one of theocedures discussed in paragraph 2 or 3 belewaigable, a prospective manufactu
must conduct and submit to the FDA complete clinstadies to prove a drug's safety and efficacyddition to the bioavailability and/or
bioequivalence studies discussed below, and msstsalbmit to the FDA information about manufactgnimactices, the chemical make-up of
the drug and labeling.

2. Abbreviated New Drug Applications ("ANDA"). THarug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoraticinof 1984 (the "1984 Act")
established the ANDA procedure for obtaining FDAmyal for those drugs that are off-patent or whesglusivity has expired and that are
bioequivalent to brand-name drugs. An ANDA is sanilo an NDA, except that the FDA waives the regaient of conducting complete
clinical studies of safety and efficacy, althougmay require expanded clinical bioavailability &rdioequivalence studies. "Bioavailabilil
means the rate of absorption and levels of conagaitr of a drug in the blood stream needed to medutherapeutic effect. "Bioequivalence"
means equivalence in bioavailability between twagdproducts. In general, an ANDA will be approvedyaipon a showing that the generic
drug covered by the ANDA is bioequivalent to thevpously approved version of the drug,

i.e., that the rate of absorption and the levelsoofcentration of a generic drug in the body alestntially equivalent to those of a previously
approved equivalent drug. The principle advantdghis approval mechanism is that an ANDA applicantot required to conduct the same
preclinical and clinical studies to demonstratd tha product is safe and effective for its intethdse.

The 1984 Act, in addition to establishing the ANPfocedure, created new statutory protections fprapd brand-name drugs. In general,
under the 1984 Act, approval of an ANDA for a génerug may not be made effective until all prodatl use patents listed with the FDA
for the equivalent brand name drug have expirditboe been determined to be invalid or unenforcedtbie only exceptions are situations in
which the ANDA applicant successfully challenges talidity or absence of infringement of the patmd either the patent holder does not
file suit or litigation extends more than 30 mondfier notice of the challenge was received bypitent holder. Prior to enactment of the
1984 Act, the FDA gave no consideration to the miag&atus of a previously approved drug. Additibnainder the 1984 Act, if specific
criteria are met, the term of a product or usengatevering a drug may be extended up to five yeacompensate the patent holder for the
reduction of the effective market life of that pattdue to federal regulatory review. With respeatértain drugs not covered by patents, the
1984 Act sets specified time periods of two toytears during which approvals of ANDASs for geneniagk cannot become effective or, ur
certain circumstances, ANDAs cannot be filed if dogiivalent brand-name drug was approved after dbee31, 1981.
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3. "Paper" NDA. An alternative NDA procedure is yicked by the 1984 Act whereby the applicant may &l published literature and more
limited testing requirements. While that alternatsometimes provides advantages over the ANDA pieg it is not frequently used.

GENERIC DRUG ENFORCEMENT ACT

As a result of hearings and investigations conceritie activities of the generic drug industry a&melFDA's generic drug approval process,
Congress enacted the Generic Drug Enforcement fA@9® (the "Generic Drug Act"). The Generic DrugtA&onfers significant new
authority upon the FDA to impose debarment and pinalties for individuals and companies who cotrgaitain illegal acts relating to the
generic drug approval process.

The Generic Drug Act requires the mandatory debatmiecompanies or individuals convicted of a feddéelony for conduct relating to the
development or approval of any ANDA, and givesHmDRA discretion to debar corporations or individuls similar conduct resulting in a
federal misdemeanor or state felony conviction. FBé& may not accept or review during the periodlelbarment (one to ten years in the
of mandatory, or up to five years in the case ofgsive, debarment of a corporation) any ANDA sitted by or with the assistance of the
debarred corporation or individual. The GenericdpAct also provides for temporary denial of apptafageneric drug applications during
the investigation of crimes that could lead to detent. In addition, in more limited circumstancise Generic Drug Act provides for
suspension of the marketing of drugs under apprgeseric drug applications sponsored by affectedpamies. The Generic Drug Act also
provides for fines and confers authority on the FiDAvithdraw, under certain circumstances, appro¥al previously granted ANDA if the
FDA finds that the ANDA was obtained through fatsemisleading statements.

HEALTHCARE REFORM

Several legislative proposals to address the risisgs of healthcare have been introduced in Cesgrad several state legislatures. Many of
such proposals include various insurance marketmef, the requirement that businesses providetheeltirance coverage for all their
employees, significant reductions in the growttiutfire Medicare and Medicaid expenditures, anagémt government cost controls that
would directly control insurance premiums and iadity affect the fees of hospitals, physicians atietr healthcare providers. Such propo
could adversely affect the Company's businessrogng other things, reducing the demand, and tleegpaid, for pharmaceutical products
such as those produced and marketed by the Compdditionally, other developments, such as (i) ddeption of a nationalized health
insurance system or a single payor system, (iingha in needs-based medical assistance prograiii§), @reater prevalence of capitated
reimbursement of healthcare providers, could aggfect the demand for the Company's products.

COMPETITION

The Company competes in varying degrees with nuasecompanies in the health care industry, includitgr manufacturers of generic
drugs (among which are divisions of several maf@rmaceutical companies) and manufacturers of bnante drugs. Many of the
Company's competitors have substantially greatantiial and other resources and are able to expengl money and effort than the
Company in areas such as marketing and productajeuent. Although a company with greater resouvgéisot necessarily receive FDA
approval for a particular generic drug before iitBer competitors, relatively large research aedetbpment expenditures enable a company
to support many FDA applications simultaneouslgréivy improving the likelihood of being among thrstfto obtain approval of at least
some generic drugs.

One of the principal competitive factors in the ggo pharmaceutical market is the ability to intiod generic versions of brand-name drugs
promptly after a patent expires. Other competitaeors in the generic pharmaceutical market aieepquality and customer service
(including maintenance of sufficient inventories fisnely deliveries).
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RAW MATERIALS

The raw materials essential to the Company's bssiaee APIs purchased from numerous sources. Ragviaia are generally available from
several sources. The Federal drug application peoxjuires specification of raw material supplifreaw materials from a supplier specif

in a drug application were to become unavailablemnmercially acceptable terms, FDA supplementpt@ml of a new supplier would be
required. During 2001 and 2000, the Company puedhapproximately $1,512,000 and $1,485,000, reseégtof its raw materials
(constituting 25% and 28% of each year's aggrggatehases of raw materials) from one supplier. &itth the Company is now able to
submit supplements to the FDA in order to allow@wmpany to purchase raw materials from alternatieces, there can be no assurance tha
if the Company were unable to continue to purcliasematerials from this supplier, that the Compaoyld be successful in receiving FDA
approval to such supplement or that it would noefdifficulties in obtaining raw materials on commwially acceptable terms. Failure to
receive FDA approval for, and to locate, acceptalikrnative sources of raw materials would haweaterial adverse effect on the Company.
The Company experienced a shortage of two raw mégeén during 2001. These shortages are expeotedrttinue through the second que

of 2002.

The DEA limits the quantity of the controlled suoste inventories of certain raw materials usedharmaceutical manufacturers in the
production of controlled substances based on lidsticsales data. In the event the Company is sefidaéa obtaining the Manufacturing
Registration, in view of the Company's recentlyrdsped sales volume, these DEA limitations coutdeiase the likelihood of raw material
shortages and of manufacturing delays in the eben€ompany experiences increased sales volunserequired to find new suppliers of
these raw materials.

As described under the caption "Recent Even@piate Synthesis Technologies”, the Company igldging certain opiate technologies tc
used in the manufacture of controlled substandes.Jompany is also seeking to obtain an imporstegion from the DEA to import raw
poppy to be used in such development and manufagtefforts directly from third-party suppliers apiate producing countries. No
assurance can be given that the Company will beesiséul in identifying and contracting with thirésy suppliers in opiate producing
countries on commercially acceptable terms forGbenpany's requirements of raw materials to be irséd controlled substance
development and commercialization efforts.

SUBSIDIARIES

The Company's Culver, Indiana manufacturing openatare conducted by Houba, Inc., an Indiana catjwor and wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company. Halsey Pharmaceuticals, Inc., aa&te corporation, is a wholly-owned subsidiaryakhis currently inactive. The
Company also has the following additional subsidareach of which is currently inactive and in pihecess of being dissolved: Indiana Fine
Chemicals Corporation, a Delaware corporation, KL&aci Laboratories, Inc., a California corporati@enci Powder Products, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, Blue Cross Products, Indlew York corporation, and The Medi-Gum Corporatiarelaware corporation.

EMPLOYEES

As of March 31, 2002, the Company had approximatély full-time employees. Approximately 59 emplay@ee administrative and
professional personnel and the balance is in ptamtuend shipping. Among the professional persgntiélre engaged in research and
product development. Management believes thagiitdions with its employees are satisfactory.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Halsey leases, as sole tenant, a pharmaceuticalfatdnring facility of approximately 35,000 squédget located at 77 Brenner Drive,
Congers, New York. The Agreement of Lease, witluaaffiliated third party, contains a three yeantevith a two year renewal option and
provides for annual fixed rent of $500,000 per yaaning the primary term of the Lease and $600@80year during the renewal period. The
term of the Lease expires on March 21, 2004. Tasdé facility houses a portion of the Company'sufarturing
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operations and includes office and warehouse sgéeelease also contains an option pursuant tohwthie Company may purchase the
leased premises and improvements (including ceptaiduction and related equipment) for a purcha®e pf $5 million, exercisable at any
time during the Lease term.

Halsey leases, as sole tenant, a facility locatd@% Wells Avenue, Congers, New York. The Facitipntains office, warehouse and
manufacturing space and is approximately 18,00@rggieet. The Lease provides for a term of fourgyeath an option to renew for an
additional three years and provides for annuakfisent of approximately $127,000 per year durirggfttst two years of the Lease and
approximately $135,000 per year during the lastyears.

Halsey leases approximately 4,700 square feetfieadpace located at 695 North Perryville Road|diug No. 2, Rockford, lllinois. The
lease is between the Company and an unaffiliaesble The lease term, scheduled to expire Augy2@12, allows for renewal through
August 31, 2003 and calls for annual rental, intlgdnaintenance and common area expense, of apmately $46,000 per year. This leased
facility houses the Company's principal executiffeces, including its sales, administration andafice operations.

The Company's Houba, Inc. subsidiary owns approvéin&@5,000 square feet of building space on apprately 30 acres of land in Culver,
Indiana, which includes a 15,000 square foot martufang facility. This manufacturing facility housseparate plants for the production of
certain raw materials as well as finished dosagduymts in capsule and tablet form.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Beginning in 1992, actions were commenced agaiesCompany and numerous other pharmaceutical matnoéas in connection with the
alleged exposure to diethylstilbestrol ("DES"). Tdefense of all of such matters was assumed bgdinepany's insurance carrier, and a
substantial number have been settled by the ca@ierently, several actions remain pending with @ompany as a defendant, and the
insurance carrier is defending each action. The g2zom does not believe any of such actions will heaveaterial impact on the Company's
financial condition.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
No matters were submitted to a vote of securitglérd during the fourth quarter of 20t
PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET PRICE FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQ UITY AND RELATED SECURITY HOLDER MATTERS
MARKET AND MARKET PRICES OF COMMON STOCK

On August 29, 2000, the Company was informed byAiieedicatory Counsel of the American Stock Exchauithmex") that it had
determined to delist the Common Stock of the Comfanfailure to meet the Amex's criteria for conted listing. The last day of trading of
the Company's Common Stock on the Amex was Septemi2®00. The Company's Common Stock commencdihgan the NASDAQ
sponsored Over the Counter Bulletin Board on Sepézr@, 2000.

Set forth below for the periods indicated arel#@ high and low sales prices of the Company's Com&iock while listed on Amex as
reported by the Exchange and (ii) the high andbaprice for the Company's Common Stock for trgdmthe Common Stock on the OTC
Bulletin Board as reported by the OTC Bulletin Bahar
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AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE

SALES PRICE
PERIOD HIGH LOW
2000 Fiscal Year
FirstQuarter........cccooovvvvvcvivnieeeeneeees 238 1
Second QUArter....ccceveeeeeveeeeeeeeeieeeeeeeee 1.52 1.02
Third Quarter through September 7, 2000........... ... 1.375 .98
OTC BULLETIN BOARD*
BID PRICE
PERIOD HIGH LOW
2000 Fiscal Year
Third Quarter (commencing September 8, 2000)..... ... 1.78 .3
Fourth Quarter........coooovvvviveiiieene. 1.125 41
2001 Fiscal Year
FirstQuarter........cccooovvvvvcvvinieieeeees 1.24 .69
Second QUArer....cccceveeveeveneeeeeeeieiieeeeee 245 1.01
Third Quarter.....ccccccovvvvvivcciiiieeees 341 181
Fourth Quarter.........ccooovvivvvveeiinenee. 35 151
2002 Fiscal Year
First Quarter......cccoovvvvvviciiiiiieeeenee 24 15

* Such over-the-counter market quotations reflatgr-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, markvdoor commission and may not
necessarily represent actual transactions.

HOLDERS

There were approximately 750 holders of recorchef@ompany's common stock on April 5, 2002. Thisiber, however, does not reflect the
ultimate number of beneficial holders of the Compsigommon stock.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The payment of cash dividends from current earnisgsibject to the discretion of the Board of Dioes and is dependent upon many factors,
including the Company's earnings, its capital neeukits general financial condition. The termshaf Company's 5% convertible senior
secured debentures and the Loan Agreement withdiv&karmaceuticals prohibit the Company from pagagh dividends. The Company
does not intend to pay any cash dividends in thesteable future.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data presemmetie following pages for the years ended Decer@bgP001, 2000, 1999, 1998 and 1997
are derived from the Company's audited Consolidairdncial Statements. The Consolidated Finandaksients as of December 31, 2001
and December 31, 2000, and for each of the yedheithree year period ended December 31, 2001thaneport thereon, are included
elsewhere herein. The selected financial infornmaie of and for the years ended December 31, 1988 and 1997 are derived from the
audited Consolidated Financial Statements of thmg2my not presented herein.

The information set forth below is qualified byeegnce to, and should be read in conjunction whit Consolidated Financial Statements and
related notes thereto included elsewhere in thigoReand "ltem 7. Management's Discussion and Asislgf Financial Condition and Results
of Operations."
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YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
( IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

OPERATING DATA:
Net product revenues............. $ 16,929 $ 20,223 $ 11,420 $ 8,841 $ 9,088
Operating Costs
Cost of manufacturing............ $ 14,857 18,743 15,316 12,712 15,407
Research and development......... $ 1,327 1,821 1,075 651 979
Selling, general and

administrative expenses........ $ 6,616 6,208 7,383 8,078 6,308
Plant shutdown costs............. $ 68 53 3,220 - -
Interest expense, net............ $ 3,844 3,037 2,851 1,285 1,144

Amortization of deferred debt
discount and private offering

COSE.uiiiiiiiiieeeiee e $ 2,591 2,448 1,825 661
Investment in Joint Venture...... (202) (57) - - --
Other (income) expense........... $ (13) (101) (187) (1,822) 264
Loss before income tax benefit... $ (12,563) (12,043) (20,063) (12,724) (15,014 )
Income tax benefit............... $ -- (389) - - -
Net 10SS....ccoiviiiiiiiiiinns $ (12,563) $ (11,654) $ (20,063) $ (12,724) $ (15,014 )

Share. ..o, $ (84) 8% (80) $ (1.40) $ (92) $ (112 )

Weighted average number of
outstanding shares............. 15,021,931 1 4,502,805 14,325,551 13,812,529 13,434,215

DECEMBER 31,

200 1 2000 1999 1998 1997

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
BALANCE SHEET DATA:

Working capital (deficiency)................ $ (8 ,276) $(5,061) $ (5,181) $ (6,665) $(22,304)
Total assets......ccocvveeviieeiieennnn. 11 ,069 15,209 12,495 16,413 7,667
Total liabilities..........c.cccceernneene 76 ,505 68,558 54,869 45,366 27,524
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)..... (101 ,501) (88,938) (77,284) (57,221) (44,497)
Stockholders' equity (deficit).............. (65 ,436) (53,349) (42,374) (28,953) (19,857)

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Certain statements set forth under this captiorstitote “forward-looking statements” within the mesy of the Reform Act. See "Special
Note Regarding Forwa-Looking Statements” on page 1 of this Report fitidonal factors relating to such Statements.

OVERVIEW

The Company reported a net loss of $12,563,00082r er share for the year ended December 31, 20@bmpared with the net loss of
$11,654,000 or $.80 per share for 2000. Includeteirevenues for 2001 was $8.5 million of a t8t&8.5 million due from Watson
Pharmaceuticals representing the second and thlepfryyments for a product ANDA sold to Watson inrbhg 2000. Excluding the payments
made by Watson to the Company for a product AND&, ravenues for the year ended December 31, 208&, approximately $8,429,000 as
compared to net revenues of approximately $15,288(6r 2000.

The Company reduced its loss before interest, degiren and taxes to $5,267,000 for 2001 comparekbt914,000 and $14,473,000 for 2
and 1999, respectively. This was achieved evengtintiie Company
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continued to operate the inefficient Brooklyn fagithroughout the first quarter 2001 as it awaitieel FDA approval of its leased Congers
facility. This approval was received in Februar2@nabling the Company to close down its operatioBrooklyn in March, 2001 with an
estimated annual operational savings of $5,000,000.

The Company had the following significant achievatsen 2001:
- Acquired the exclusive license to proprietaryhtealogy for the efficient isolation of thebaineftadaw opium.
- Received approval from the DEA to manufactureeSicite 111-N controlled substances at the Compa@ylser, Indiana facility.
- Completed the shutdown of the Brooklyn manufaotufacility eliminating approximately $5.0 millioim annual operating costs.
- Filed for DEA approval to manufacture Schedul®lV controlled substances.
- Filed for DEA approval to import narcotic raw ragals for use in the Company's product developraadtmanufacturing operations.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
NET REVENUES

Net revenues for 2001 of $16,929,000 represeneseedse of $3,294,000 as compared to net reveou2800. Net revenues for 2001 .
comprised of sales of products totaling $8,42980@ revenues from product development of $8,500,008 Company had $5,000,000 of
product development revenue in 2000. The decre@asalés of products is attributable primarily tev rmaterial shortages required for the
manufacture of two products.

Net revenues for 2000 of $20,223,000 representscaease of $8,803,000 as compared to net revdou&899. Net revenues for 2000 i
comprised of sales of products totaling $15,223 @@ revenues from product development of $5,0@0,08e Company had no product
development revenue in 1999 or prior years. Theea®e in sales of products is attributable primaaithe Core Products Supply Agreement
with Watson dated, March, 2000 whereby Watson vidigated to purchase and pay for a minimum of $9,080 of products in 2000.

COST OF MANUFACTURING

The Company's cost of manufacturing for 2001 imptbto 87.8% versus 92.7% for 2000. The improvermeR001 is due primarily to the
addition of the $8,500,000 of product developmentenue. The development costs associated withehé&nue were substantially incurred in
years prior to 2000 and were expensed at that fiilne cost of manufacturing for 2001 on productsalene was 176% due primarily
underutilized productive capacity and the signifiicixed costs associated with pharmaceutical prtido regardless of sales volume.

The Company's cost of manufacturing for 2000 imptbto 92.7% versus 134.1% for 1999. The improvenme2000 is due primarily to the
addition of the $5,000,000 of product developmentenue. The development costs associated withehé&nue were substantially incurred in
prior years and were expensed at that time. Theofasanufacturing for 2000 on product sales alwas 123%.

RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

For 2001, research and development expenses amddaor$é,327,000 as compared to $1,821,000 for Z006.decrease primarily reflects
absence of $500,000 in costs associated with abtathe codeine technology in 2000.

For 2000, research and development expenses amdor$d,821,000 as compared to $1,075,000 for 1B88.increase primarily reflects the
costs associated with obtaining the codeine tecigyol

17



The Company expects research and development eegptmsicrease in 2002 as compared to 2001 consigith its plans to develop and
manufacture APIs and finished dosage products rozating the Opiate Synthesis Technologies antédrréhabilitation of certain product
ANDAs acquired from Barr.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Selling, general and administrative costs were BRM0 (39.0% of net revenues) for 2001 compareb1208,000 (64.6% of net revenues)
for 2000. This increase is primarily due to theeltbgal expenses associated with the Opiate Ssiatfiechnologies.

Selling, general and administrative costs were@&(@0 (30.7% of net revenues) for 2000 comparei¥1883,000 (30.7% of net revenues)
for 1999. This decrease is primarily due to themglation of the Company's outside sales force @pprately $400,000) and reduced legal
expenses (approximately $750,000) in 2000 as cozdptar1999.

PLANT SHUTDOWN COSTS

In the fourth quarter of 1999, the Company deciediscontinue its Brooklyn operations. The totahige against earnings in 1999 of
approximately $3,220,000 resulting from eliminatthg Brooklyn operation includes the lease ternmmgpayment of $1,150,000, a provis
of $200,000 for plant repairs, the write-off of$edold improvements of $1,778,000, severance dra obsts for terminated employees of
$730,000, less deferred rent previously expens&®88,000. In 2000, the Company incurred an addhti®53,000 in severance costs and in
2001, incurred a $68,000 loss on the disposal s#tasrom its Brooklyn facility.

INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense for 2001 increased by $807,0Q8 @26 over that of 2000 reflecting interest on baings under the Watson Term Loan.
During 2001, the Company borrowed an additionab®8,000 under the term loan.

Interest expense for 2000 increased by 6.5% owtoh1999 reflecting interest on borrowings unither Watson Term Loan.
AMORTIZATION OF DEFERRED DEBT DISCOUNT AND PRIVATE OFFERING COSTS

In 2001, 2000 and 1999 the Company issued wareartsncurred costs associated with private placésraard bridge financings. The value
of warrants issued in 2001, 2000, and 1999, asrmdeted by use of the Black-Scholes valuation modek $310,000, $124,750, and
$5,234,000 respectively. Additionally, the Compamyurred approximately $907,000 of private offergusts in 1999. These amounts are
being amortized over the life of the underlying elefures and notes which mature no later than M@@d3. Accordingly, the Company
amortized $2,591,000, $2,448,000, and $1,825,0@001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

At December 31, 2001, the Company had cash andezpshalents of $422,000 as compared to $697,00@e¢mber 31, 2000. The
Company had working capital deficiency at Decen8ier2001 of ($8,276,000).

In addition to the other strategic alliance tratisas with Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Watsaapleted on March 29, 2000, the
Company and Watson executed a Loan Agreement pngvidr Watson's extension of a $17,500,000 teram tw the Company (the "Watson
Term Loan"). The Watson Term Loan provides for fagdn installments upon the Company's requesaftmances and the provision to
Watson of a supporting use of proceeds relatireptdh such advance. As of December 31, 2001, Watsbadvanced the full $17.5 million
available to the Company under the Watson Term L®ha Watson Term Loan is secured
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by a first lien on all of the Company's assetsimdn the liens securing all other Company inddhgss, carries a floating rate of interest
equal to prime plus two percent and matures on Maig 2003. The net proceeds of the Watson Ternm lesge used in part to satisfy cert
bridge loans made by Galen Partners IlI, L.P. (888l to the Company during 2000, to satisfy Compmpgyment obligations under the
Settlement Agreement with the landlord of its Brigak New York facility, to fund capital improvemenand to fund the Company's working
capital requirements.

Pursuant to the terms of the Core Products Supghgément with Watson, Watson was required to pwelad pay for on a quarterly bas
minimum of $3,060,000 for products supplied by @@npany under such Agreement. For the three geaeteting December 31, 2000,
Watson had made an advance payment of approxingded2,000 as required under the terms of the Boyducts Supply Agreement to be
applied against future product purchases under Agocbement. The advance payments and any additiahvance payments made by Watson
under the Core Products Supply Agreement will negjthiat the Company supply Watson with a like amaofiproducts without additional
payments from Watson at such time. On August 8120& Company and Watson executed an amendm#re @ore Products Supply
Agreement (the "Core Products Amendment") providipépr a reduction of Watson's minimum purchasguirements from $3,060,000 to
$1,500,000 per quarter, (ii) for an extension oft¥a's minimum purchase requirements from the quarnding September 30, 2001 to
quarter ending September 30, 2002, (iii) for Watprecover previous advance payments made unddtdhe Products Supply Agreemer
the form of the Company's provision of productsihga purchase price of up to $750,000 per quéstesh credit amount to be in excess of
Watson's $1,500,000 minimum quarterly purchasegahtin), and (iv) for the Company's repayment taddia of any remaining advance
payments made by Watson under the Core Products\SAgreement (and which amount has not been reeoMey product deliveries by the
Company to Watson as provided in Subsection @igve) in two (2) equal monthly installments on (etol, 2002 and November 1, 2002.
As of December 31, 2001, Watson's advance paymerts $4,147,000 and the Company has provided écdist of satisfying its obligation
to Watson.

The Company secured bridge financing from Galetagenf Galen's affiliates and certain investorghi@a Company's 5% convertible senior
secured debentures (collectively, the "Galen Grpupthe aggregate amount of approximately $7,00@fonded through five (5) separate
bridge loan transactions during the period from ésidl5, 2001 through April 5, 2002 (collectivelget'2001/2002 Galen Bridge Loans").
$2,500,000 of the 2001/2002 Galen Bridge Loans wseel by the Company to satisfy in full the Compai$% convertible subordinated
debentures in the principal amount of $2,500,0680&d in August 1996 and which matured on Augug061. The remaining $4,500,000
balance of the 2001/2002 Galen Bridge Loans wad fsevorking capital to fund continuing operatioi$ie Galen Bridge Loans bear
interest at the rate of 10% per annum and are sédwyr a lien on all the Company's assets, junithheécsecurity interest granted to Watson
under the Watson Term Loan but senior to the sgcimterest granted to the holders of the Compabssconvertible subordinated
debentures issued in March, 1998 and May, 1999 pftmaissory notes issued in the 2001/2002 Galedg®@rl oans are convertible into
common stock an average initial conversion pric8283 per share, which conversion price equalaeeage trading price of the Compai
common stock for the 20 days preceding the clodatg of each bridge loan advance. The conversioe pf the promissory notes is subject
to full-ratchet dilution protection to equal thesMer purchase price/conversion price of the Comasscurities issued in a subsequent
offering. In consideration for the extension of #1/2002 Galen Bridge Loans, the Company issni¢iget Galen Group common stock
purchase warrants to purchase an aggregate of@b3hares of the Company's common stock at angeémdial exercise price of $2.22 per
share. The exercise price of the Warrants is stibjefall-ratchet dilution protection to equal tlwver purchase price/conversion price of the
Company's securities issued in a subsequent affefime 2001/2002 Galen Bridge Loans mature on Afjl2002.

Until such time as the Company successfully develoml commercializes new finished dosage productsetive pharmaceutical
ingredients, of which there can be no assuraneeCtimpany will continue to incur operating lossed aegative cash flow. The Company
estimates that the remaining proceeds of the 2002/Zalen Bridge Loans will be sufficient to satifie Company's working capital
requirements only through May 15, 2002. The Compaiiy need of immediate additional financing idlerto satisfy its
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obligations under the 2001/2002 Galen Bridge Laghieh mature on April 30, 2002, as well as to fuoditinuing operations. Although the
Company is in active discussions with certain tipiadties to obtain such financing, no assurancéeagiven that necessary financing will be
available to the Company on acceptable terms,dflat

The Company has received a commitment from Galemé&a I, L.P. ("Galen") to (i) extend the matyrdate of that portion of the
2001/2002 Galen Bridge Loans advanced by Galentsuadfiliates (representing approximately $6,528 0f the outstanding $7,000,000 in
bridge financing provided to the Company), to Janda 2003 (the "2001/2002 Bridge Loan Maturity B&ixtension™), and (ii) fund the
Company's working capital requirements through e 31, 2002 in the form of additional Bridge Fioeg under terms consistent with
the 2001/2002 Galen Bridge Loans (the "2002 Galédge Loan Commitment"). Reference is made to l18nCertain Relationships and
Related Transactions, for a discussion of the teritise 2001/2002 Bridge Loan Maturity Date Extensand the 2002 Galen Bridge Loan
Commitment. The completion of the transactions emmlated by each of the 2001/2002 Galen Bridge Waturity Date Extension and the
2002 Galen Bridge Loan Commitment is subject toGbenpany's receipt of the consent of each of Waasahthe holders of the Company's
outstanding debentures. In view of the consentaindd for the prior bridge financings providediie Company, the Company anticipates
that it will obtain the consent of each of Watsaod ¢he holders of the Company's outstanding debesitu

The Company's efforts to obtain the approval ofull®. Drug Enforcement Administration ("DEA") foregistration to import raw materials
for use in production, including contesting pendinigd-party opposition proceedings, and the caritig development of the Company's
Opiate Synthesis Technologies will continue thro2§84. In order to fund continued operations, 8atlge 2001/2002 Galen Bridge Loans
and to fund the continued development of the CoryipaDpiate Synthesis Technologies during the pdrma fiscal 2002 through and
including 2004, which includes the completion aiqpied capital improvements to the Company's Culadiana and Congers, NY facilities
and the processing of the registrations and apfsagquired from the DEA (including funding the édees and related expenses in
connection with pending opposition proceedingstirgato the Company's request for a raw materiglarhregistration), the Company
estimates that it will be required to obtain addifil sources of financing or a third party equitydstment of approximately $15.0 million (as
such amount may be reduced to the extent of adsaii@ny, made by Galen to the Company under @92 Z>alen Bridge Loan
Commitment). The Company is seeking additional &uthdiough transactions related to its business kisewell as private financings and is
currently in active negotiations with certain thpdrties relating to a private equity financingefdécan be no assurance, however, that such
ongoing negotiations will be successful or thakottources of financing will be available to then@@any on acceptable terms, if at all.
Failure to obtain such financing or equity investitnmay require the Company (i) significantly curfaioduct commercialization efforts,
including the development and commercializatiothef Opiate Synthesis Technologies, (ii) if avakglubtain funding through arrangements
with collaborative partners or others on terms thay require the Company to relinquish certaintggh its Opiate Synthesis Technologies,
which the Company could otherwise pursue on its,awrhat would significantly dilute the Compangteckholders (iii) significantly scale
back or terminate operations, and/or (iv) seelefeinder applicable bankruptcy laws. Any extendeldylin obtaining necessary financing
will result in the cessation of the Company's auunitig development efforts relating to its OpiatetBgsis Technologies and will have a
material adverse effect on the Company's finaru@atition and results of operations.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

The Company's capital expenditures during 20010280d 1999 were $1,623,000, $2,962,000, and $0Q8r8spectively. The capital
expenditures in 2001 is attributable to capitalioyements to the Company's Congers, NY and Culrdiana facilities. In order for the
Company to receive the Manufacturing Registratipecific improvements were made for security atated items to the Culver, Indiana
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facility. Additionally, expenditures were made fgrsficantly improve and expand the manufacturiagabilities of both Congers, NY
locations. The Company has budgeted for capitatedipures approximately $2,000,000 in fiscal 20®2ch amounts will be funded from the
net proceeds of the contemplated private offerfigyhich no assurance can be given.

IMPACT OF INFLATION

The Company believes that inflation did not haweaderial impact on its operations for the pericglsorted. Significant increases in labor,
employee benefits and other expenses could haeterial adverse effect on the Company's performance
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The response to this item is submitted as a sepaeation of this Report commencing on page F-1.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not Applicable.
PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT

The directors and executive officers of the Compamyas follows:

NAME AGE POSITION

Michael K. Reicher.................... 55 Chair man of the Board of Directors and
Chief Executive Officer

Gerald F. Price.........cccccvvvvnnee 54 Presi dent and Chief Operating Officer
and D irector

Peter A. Clemens...........cccuueee.. 49 Vice President, Chief Financial
Offic er and Director

Bruce F. WessoN..........cccceeueeee. 59 Direc tor

Alan J. Smith.........ccocoieiine 72 Direc tor

William A. Sumner............cce..... 64 Direc tor

William Skelly..........ccooeeennne 51 Direc tor

Srini Conjeevaram..................... 43 Direc tor

Zubeen Shroff..........cccocveeee 37 Direc tor

Joel D. Liffmann............cccoeuee. 41 Direc tor

James Emigh.........cccccoeeeene 46 Vice President -- Operations

Phyllis A. Lambridis.................. 40 Vice President -- Corporate Compliance

Ignacio Sanchez....................... 54  Vice President and General Manager of
Houba , Inc.

Carol Whitney.........ccccceevuveee. 55 Vice President -- Administration

Robert A. Seiser...........ccccuveee 38 Treas urer and Corporate Controller

Michael K. Reicher has been Chairman of the Bodidiectors since June 29, 2000 and Chief Execulifficer and a Director of the
Company since February 19, 1998. In 1980, Mr. Reidbunded UDL Laboratories, Inc., a manufactufegemeric pharmaceuticals, and
served as its President through February 1998elmufary 1996, UDL Laboratories, Inc. was purchdsefylan Laboratories, Inc., and Mr.
Reicher remained in the office of President uwiihing the Company in February 1998.

Gerald F. Price has been President and Chief Operafficer since December 14, 2000 and a Direofdhe Company since August 15,
2000. From August 15, 2000 to December 14, 2000Rvice was Vice President of the Company. From 1990 joining the Company, Mr.
Price was employed by Barr Laboratories, Inc.,i@ege pharmaceutical company, as Vice Presidenhuféeturing and Engineering and tt
as Vice President of Business Development. Prid9&0, Mr. Price served for five years as Vice Rlers of Manufacturing for the Lancome
Division of L'Oreal of Paris.

Peter A. Clemens has been the Vice President ared Elhancial Officer of the Company since Februa®@8 and a Director of the Compe
since June 1998. From February, 1988 until joitirgCompany, Mr. Clemens was employed by TC Manufang Co., Inc. ("TC") which,
through its various subsidiaries and divisions, afactures generic pharmaceuticals, industrial ogatand flexible packaging.
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Mr. Clemens was TC's President from February, 1888.gh February, 1998. Prior to that time, he tleédposition of Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer.

Bruce F. Wesson has been a Director of the Comgpiateg March 1998. Mr. Wesson is President of GAlgsociates, a health care venture
firm, and a General Partner of Galen Partnerd IR, Prior to January 1991, he was Senior ViceiBees and Managing Director of Smith
Barney, Harris Upham & Co. Inc., an investment biagkirm. He currently serves on the Boards of Wi@orporation, a publicly traded
company, and several privately held companies Whsson earned a degree from Colgate Universityadudsters of Business
Administration from Columbia University.

Srini Conjeevaram has been a Director of the Comgarce March 1998. Mr. Conjeevaram is Chief FinanOfficer of Galen Associates, a
health care venture firm, and a General Partn&abdén Partners Ill, L.P. Prior to January 1991wis an Associate in Corporate Finance at
Smith Barney, Harris Upham & Co. Inc. from 19891890 and a Senior Project Engineer for General MaBmrporation from 1982 to 1987.
Mr. Conjeevaram serves as a Director of Derma $egrinc., a publicly traded company. He earnedehBlor of Science degree in
Mechanical Engineering from Madras University, asiéas of Science degree in Mechanical Engineerimg Stanford University, and a
Masters of Business Administration from Indiana\émsity.

Alan J. Smith, Ph.D. has been a Director of the gamy since 1995. Since 1991, Dr. Smith has beearsagement consultant specializing in
pharmaceutical quality management, quality contjoglity assurance and auditing, the Food and Bwministration's Current Good
Manufacturing Practice regulations and technologining, documentary systems and stability programgmmrom 1985 to 1991, he was
Corporate Director of Quality Affairs for Whitehalhboratories, a Division of American Home Produ@tsporation. Dr. Smith holds B.Sc.
and Ph.D. degrees from the University of London.

William A. Sumner has been a Director of the Comypsince August 1997. From 1974 until his retiremiart995, Mr. Sumner held various
positions within Hoechst-Roussel Pharmaceuticals, b manufacturer and distributor of pharmacaupecoducts, including Vice-President
and General Manager, Dermatology Division from 188bugh 1995, Vice President, Strategic Businesgeldpment, from 1989 to 1991
and Vice President, Marketing from 1985 to 198@c8ihis retirement from Hoechst-Roussel Pharmazadstilnc. in 1995, Mr. Sumner has
acted as a consultant to various entities in trmhceutical field.

William Skelly has been a Director of the Compaimgs May 1996 and served as Chairman of the Comfrany October 1996 through June
2000. Since 1990, Mr. Skelly has served as Chaiyfesident and Chief Executive Officer of CenBaimedia, Inc. and its subsidiary
SERA, Inc., companies involved in the animal healtlustry including veterinary biologicals and @mtmanufacturing of animal sera
products. From 1985 to 1990, Mr. Skelly served @sident of Martec Pharmaceutical, Inc., a distaband manufacturer of human generic
prescription pharmaceuticals.

Zubeen Shroff has been a Director of the Compamyesiune 1998. Mr. Shroff is a General PartneraéPartners I, L.P. He joined Ga
Associates, a health care venture firm, in Janti@8y from The Wilkerson Group, a leading providemanagement consulting services to
the health care industry. Prior to The Wilkersom@r, he worked for Schering-Plough Internationaifrl989 to 1993 in a variety of staff
and line management positions and as head of $¢ghBtough France's biotech franchise. Mr. Shraféireed a Bachelor of Science in
Biological Sciences from Boston University in 1986d a Masters of Business Administration from Thigavtbn School in 1988.

Joel D. Liffmann has been a Director of the Compsinge 1999. Mr. Liffmann is a General Partner cd&le Partners, L.P. Prior to joining
Oracle Partners in 1996, Mr. Liffmann was Senioce/President of Business Development at Merck-Melhoo Prior to such time, Mr.
Liffmann was Vice President/Business DevelopmemMatico Containment Services and Vice Presidenioftig Research and later was
Vice President of Corporate Finance at Drexel Bamti.ambert. Mr. Liffmann holds a degree from Bodtbriversity.
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James Emigh has been Vice President -- Operatinos Eebruary 2000. Mr. Emigh joined the Companilay, 1998 as Executive Director
of Customer Relations. From 1991 until joining @@empany, Mr. Emigh was employed by Organon, Inphamaceutical company, in
various management positions and most recentlg &iriector of Managed Care and Trade Relations.Bvitigh holds a Bachelor of
Pharmacy from Washington State University and atdtaof Business Administration from George Masaniversity.

Phyllis A. Lambridis has been Vice President --gtwate Compliance since March 19, 2001. From 1988 joining the Company, Ms.
Lambridis was employed by Schein Pharmaceutical, (Bubsequently acquired by Watson Pharmaceuticalsin 2000) as its Director,
Corporate Quality Standards, Policies & Systemsnt1t987 to 1998 Ms. Lambridis was employed by Baforatories, Inc. in a number of
quality and regulatory positions, most recenthpaector of Regulatory Compliance. Ms. Lambrididdwa Masters of Science in
Bacteriology from Wagner College and a BacheloA$ in Microbiology from Rutgers College.

Ignacio H. Sanchez Ph.D. has been Vice PresidehGameral Manager of Houba, Inc., the Company's&ulndiana manufacturing
operations since July 30, 2001. From 1984 throughl®93, Dr. Sanchez worked for Syntex PharmacalstiBoulder, CO). From 1993 un
2000, Dr. Sanchez was with Great Lakes Fine Chdm{@dest Lafayette, IN). From 2000 until joininget@ompany, Dr. Sanchez held sev
positions with Siegfried CMS AG and its U.S. suliig, Ganes Chemicals, Inc., lastly as Busineseddir (East Coast -- USA) and Vice
President, Chemical Development -- USA for Siegffientures. Dr. Sanchez is a former Professor ein@try at the National University of
Mexico, Mexico City and received a Ph. D. degre®iganic Chemistry from the University of Britistoldmbia, Vancouver, Canada.

Carol Whitney has been Vice President -- Admintirasince April 1998. From 1992 until joining t@®mpany, Ms. Whitney served as
Director of Human Resources for UDL Laboratories,. | a generic pharmaceutical manufacturer locaté&bckford, lllinois.

Robert Seiser has been Treasurer and Corporatecdfensince March 1998. From 1992 until joiningget@ompany, Mr. Seiser served as
Treasurer and Corporate Controller of TC Manufaotu€o., Inc., a privately held company based iartston, Illinois, which, through its
various subsidiaries and divisions, manufactureegde pharmaceuticals, industrial coatings andilflexpackaging. Mr. Seiser is a Certified
Public Accountant and earned a Bachelor of BusiAssinistration from Loyola University of Chicago.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMRINCE

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act 04138 amended, requires the Company's Directorgxarltive officers, and persons who
own beneficially more than ten percent (10%) of@mnmon Stock of the Company, to file reports ohevship and changes of ownership

with the Commission and, during the period in which Company's common stock was traded on the Aarebtock Exchange, the AMEX.
Copies of all filed reports are required to be fsined to the Company pursuant to Section 16(a)edaslely on the reports received by the
Company and on written representations from repgniersons, the Company believes the Directorgugixe officers and greater than ten

percent (10%) beneficial owners complied with @ton 16(a) filing requirements during the yeadeth December 31, 2001.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table sets forth a summary of the pemsation paid by the Company for services renderall capacities to the Company
during the fiscal years ended December 31, 20000 20:d 1999 to the
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Company's Chief Executive Officer and the next fleighest compensated executive officers of the Gomfthe "named executive officers")
whose total annual compensation for 2001 exceetied,$00:

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

LONG TERM COMPENSATION

ANNUAL C OMPENSATION SECURITIES
-------------------------------------- UNDERLYING
OTHER ANNUAL STOCK ALL OTHER
NAME AND PRINCIPAL POSITION YEAR SALARY BONUS COMPENSATION OPTIONS COMPENSATION
Michael K. Reicher.............. 2001 $191,346 0 $-- - $--
Chairman and Chief 2000 175,000 0 - 225,000 -
Executive Officer 1999 175,000 0 - 100,000 -
Gerald F. Price(1).............. 2001 $176,346 0 $-- - $--
President and Chief 2000 49,846 0 - 850,000
Operating Officer
Peter A. Clemens................ 2001 $149,807 0 $-- - $--
Vice President and Chief 2000 140,000 0 - 225,000
Financial Officer 1999 140,000 0 - 100,000 -
Phyllis A. Lambridis(2)......... 2001 $115,384 0 $-- 75,000 $--
Vice President -- Corporate
Compliance
James Emigh...........ccco..... 2001 $125,000 0 $-- 25,000 $--
Vice President -- Operations 2000 125,000 0 - 90,000 --
1999 120,000 0 16,000 -

(1) Mr. Price was appointed Vice President and Objgerating Officer effective August 15, 2000 ampainted President effective Decem
14, 2000.

(2) Ms. Lambridis was appointed Vice Presidenterfrate Compliance effective March 19, 2001.
OTHER COMPENSATORY ARRANGEMENTS

Executive Officers and key employees participateméedical and disability insurance plans providedltmon-union employees of the
Company. The Company also provides an automoldevahce to certain of its executive officers. Altiygh the Company is unable to assign
a precise value to the possible personal benefitel:from the use of the automobiles, the Comgaalieves that, as to each officer, such
personal benefit amount is less than the lessg6,800 or 10% of such officer's compensation reggbabove in the Summary Compensation
Table.

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

Michael K. Reicher is employed pursuant to an Emplent Agreement effective as of March 10, 1998 chtifter giving effect to
amendments dated May 24, 2000 and May 4, 2001jges¥hat Mr. Reicher will serve as the CompanyieExecutive Officer for a term
expiring April 30, 2005. The Agreement provides &orannual base salary of $200,000 plus the payaiem annual bonus to be determined
based on the satisfaction of such targets, comditios parameters as may be set from time to tintadompensation Committee of the
Board of Directors. No bonus was paid for fiscad20The Employment Agreement also provides forgttamt of stock options on March 10,
1998 to purchase 1,000,000 shares of the Comp@oysnon Stock at an exercise price of $2.375 paednaepresenting the closing price for
the Company's common stock as reported by the Aamei$tock Exchange ("AMEX") on the day precedirgdhant of the option), which
options vest in equal increments of 62,500 optlwaras at the end of each quarterly period duriegeim of the Agreement (as such vesting
schedule may be amended by mutual agreement beMeéteicher and the Board of Directors). The Empient Agreement also permits
the Company to repurchase the vested portion oRdicher's options upon his termination for caasedgfined in the
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Agreement) or his resignation (other than for "G&shson" as defined therein), at a purchase pgical ¢o the position difference, if any,
between the average of the Closing Price of the gamyis common stock as reported by the AMEX foffileetrading days prior to the date
of termination or resignation, multiplied by themiper of option shares which, as of the date of itetion, are vested under the option. The
Employment Agreement contains standard termingiionisions, including upon death, disability, f@use (as defined in the Agreement)
without cause. In the event the Employment Agrednseterminated by the Company without cause okMbyReicher for Good Reason (as
defined in the Agreement), the Company is requiogoly Mr. Reicher an amount equal to $350,000varet his then base salary, whichever
is greater, paydé in 24 equal monthly installments and to contitmprovide Mr. Reicher coverage under the Comzatiign existing bene
plans, including medical and life insurance, faelam of 24 months. The Employment Agreement perMitsReicher to terminate the
Agreement in the event of a change of control andSfood Reason (as defined in the Agreement). Tgreément also restricts Mr. Reicher
from disclosing, disseminating or using for hisquaral benefit or for the benefit of others confidl@ror proprietary information (as definec
the Employment Agreement) and, provided the Comgesynot breached the terms of the Employment Ageeé from competing with the
Company at any time prior to two years after thdierao occur of the expiration of the term and termination of his employment.

Peter A. Clemens is employed pursuant to an Empboyragreement effective as of March 10, 1998, wiiftlr giving effect to amendmer
dated June 28, 2000 and May 4, 2001, providesMhaClemens will serve as the Company's Vice Pexgiédnd Chief Financial Officer for a
term expiring April 30, 2005. The Employment Agremrhprovides an annual base salary of $155,000tptupayment of an annual bonus to
be determined based on the satisfaction of sugletsrconditions or parameters as may be deternfiiosdtime to time by the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors. No bonus waisl fior fiscal 2001. The Employment Agreement gisavides for the grant of stock
options on March 10, 1998 to purchase 300,000 stafrthe Company's common stock at an exercise pfi§2.375 per share, which options
vest in equal increments of 25,000 option shardiseagnd of each quarterly period during the tefth® Employment Agreement (as such
vesting schedule may be amended by mutual agreeshdfit Clemens and the Board of Directors). Thaa&ing terms of Mr. Clemens'
Employment Agreement with the Company are substiyidentical to that of Mr. Reicher.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS

Directors who are employees of the Company reagivadditional or special remuneration for theivgas as Directors. Directors who are
not employees of the Company receive an annuat gfaptions to purchase 10,000 shares of the Cagipaommon stock (15,000 share!
the case of the Chairman of the Board) and $50@doh meeting attended ($250 in the case of tefépaeeetings). The Company also
reimburses Directors for travel and lodging expsngeany, incurred in connection with attendancBeard meetings. Directors who serve on
any of the Committees established by the Boardifdibrs receive $250 for each Committee meetitended unless held on the day of a
Board meeting.

STOCK OPTION PLANS

The Company currently maintains two stock opticemgladopted in 1995 and 1998, respectively. Thep@agnin the past has used, and will
continue to use, stock options to attract andmetay employees in the belief that employee statkesship and stock-related compensation
devices encourage a community of interest betwewiayees and shareholders.

The 1995 Stock Option Plan. In September 1995Ctmapany established the 1995 Halsey Drug Co. Staxk Option and Restricted Stock
Purchase Plan (the "1995 Stock Option Plan™). UtldeiPlan, the Company may grant options to puechago 1,000,000 shares of the
Company's Common Stock. Incentive Stock OptionS@'s") may be granted to employees of the Compadyta subsidiaries and non-
qualified options may be granted to employeesgctiirs and other persons employed by, or performsérgices for, the Company and its
subsidiaries. Subject to the Plan, the Stock Opgfiommittee determines the persons to whom graatsade and the vesting, timing,
amounts and other terms of such grants. An emploaenot
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receive ISO's exercisable in any one calendarfgeahares with a fair market value on the datgraht in excess of $100,000. No quantity
limitations apply to the grant of non-qualified ctaoptions.

As of April 1, 2002, ISO's to purchase 737,013 ehand non-qualified options to purchase 257,78@eshhave been granted under the 1995
Stock Option Plan, leaving 5,207 shares availatrigfant under the Plan. The average per shareisgearice for all outstanding options
under the 1995 Stock Option Plan is approximatély& No exercise price of an ISO was set at ks 100% of the fair market value of the
underlying Common Stock, except for grants madengpperson who owned stock possessing more thanoi@é total voting power of the
Company, in which case the exercise price wastseitdess than 110% of the fair market value efuihderlying Common Stock.

The 1998 Stock Option Plan. The 1998 Stock Optian ®as adopted by the Board of Directors in Ap&98 and approved by the
Company's shareholders in June 1998. The 1998 &iptikn Plan was amended by the Board of DiredtoApril 1999 to increase the
number of shares available for the grant of optiomder the Plan from 2,600,000 to 3,600,000 shaies Company's shareholders ratified
Plan amendment on August 19, 1999. The 1998 Stptio®Plan was further amended by Board of DirectorApril, 2001 to increase the
number of shares available for grant of optionseurtde Plan from 3,600,000 to 8,100,000 shares Cidmpany's shareholders ratified the
Plan amendment on June 14, 2001. The 1998 StodkrOPlan permits the grant of ISO and non-qualiestk options to purchase shares of
the Company's Common Stock. As of April 1, 2002)'sto purchase 1,850,817 shares and non-quatifigdns to purchase 1,948,800
shares have been granted under the 1998 StockrnCpitan, leaving 4,300,383 shares available fortgrader the Plan. The average per share
exercise price for all outstanding options under2B98 Stock Option Plan is approximately $1.94 eiXercise price of an ISO was set at less
than 100% of the fair market value of the undedy@ommon Stock, except for grants made to any pasm owned stock possessing more
than 10% of the total voting power of the Compdnywhich case the exercise price was set at nstthem 110% of the fair market value of
the underlying Common Stock. Subject to the terfrth@ 1998 Stock Option Plan, the Stock Option Cadttem determines the persons to
whom grants are made and the vesting, timing, atscamd other terms of the such grant. An employayg mot receive ISO's exercisable in
any one calendar year for shares with a fair maréilete on the date of grant in excess of $100,8@0quantity limitations apply to the grant
of non-qualified stock options.

OPTION GRANTS IN 2001

The following table presents information regardgmgnts of options to purchase shares of the Comg&uommon Stock for each of the
named executive officers receiving option grant20Q1:

INDIVIDUAL GRANTS

POTENTIAL REA LIZABLE
VALUE AT AS SUMED
NUMBER OF ANNUAL RATES OF STOCK
SECURITIES PERCENT OF TOTAL PRICE APPRECIA TION FOR
UNDERLYING OPTIONS GRANTED EXERCISE OPTION TER M(3)
OPTIONS TO EM PLOYEES PRICE PER EXPIRATION -------meeeeee e
NAME GRANTED IN FIS CAL YEAR SHARE(1) DATE 5% 10%
Michael K. Reicher........... - -% $ - $ $
Gerald F. Price.............. - -% $ - $ $
Peter A. Clemens............. -- -% $ - - $ - $ -
Phyllis A. Lambridis......... 50,000(2) 9 4% $1.01 2011 $31,500 $80,500
25,000(2) 4 .6% $2.46 2011 $38,750 $98,000
James Emigh................. 25,000(2) 4 .6% $2.46 2011 $38,750 $98,000

(1) The exercise price represents the fair maraktevor a premium to market value at the date afitgr
(2) Vests in twenty five percent (25%) annual imeemts commencing on the one year anniversary of.gra

(3) The dollar amounts in these columns represenpotential realizable value of each option asegrtfiat the market price of the Common
Stock appreciates in value from the date of gratite5% and 10%
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annual rates prescribed by regulation and therefi@enot intended to forecast possible future apgtien, if any, of the price of the Common
Stock.

AGGREGATE OPTION EXERCISES IN LAST FISCAL YEAR
AND FISCAL YEAR END OPTION VALUES

No stock options were exercised by the named eixecatficers during 2001. The following table prateinformation regarding the value
options outstanding at December 31, 2001 for e&tiheonamed executive officers.

NUMBER OF SECURITIES VALUE OF UNEXERCISED

U NDERLYING UNEXERCISED IN-THE-MONEY OPTIONS

OPT IONS AT FISCAL YEAR END AT FISCAL YEAR END(1)
NAME EXE RCISABLE UNEXERCISABLE EXERCISABLE UNEXERCISA BLE
Michael K. Reicher.........cccoccceevenne. 1, 131,250 293,750 $ 93,344 $191,531
Gerald F. Price.........cccoeeveiivvvinnnnns 212,500 637,500 $209,312 $627,938
Peter A. Clemens..........ccccceeevevvnnnns 406,250 218,750 $ 70,906 $124,219
Phyllis Lambridis..........cccccvvvevenenn... -- 75,000 -- $ 50,000
James Emigh........ccccceeveevieiicieeenen. 45,500 105,500 $ 21,567 $ 40,342

(1) Value is based upon the average of the cldsicignd ask price of $2.01 per share at Decemhe2(11.
COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTI CIPATION

The Company's Compensation Committee consistedestkd. Wesson, Conjeevaram, Skelly and Reichemgliscal 2001. During 2001,
except for Mr. Reicher, there were no Compensafiommittee interlocks or insider participation imgaensation decisions.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth information regamglithe beneficial ownership of the Common Stoclgfaspril 1, 2002 for individuals or
entities in the following categories: (i) each loé tCompany's Directors and nominees for Direc{@ijghe Chief Executive Officer and other
executive officers of the Company whose total ahnampensation for 2001 exceeded $100,000 (the édaemecutive officers"); (iii) all
Directors and executive officers as a group; amddgach person known by the Company to be a baakdiener of more than 5% of the
Common Stock. Unless indicated otherwise, each@thareholders has sole voting and investmentpeitie respect to the shares
beneficially owned.

AMOUNT PERCENT
NAME OF BENEFICIAL OWNER OWNED(1) OF CLASS
Galen Partners lll, L.P. oooovviiiiiiiieees 30,726,876(2) 67.10%
610 Fifth Avenue, 5th Floor
New York, New York 10020
Galen Partners International lll, L.P. ..ccccoooee. L 3,169,120(3) 17.38%
610 Fifth Avenue, 5th Floor
New York, New York 10020
Oracle Strategic Partners, L.P. .....ccceeeeeee. Ll 10,089,934(4) 40.11%
712 Fifth Ave, 45th Floor
New York, New York 10019
Hemant K. Shah and Varsha H. Shah............... .. ... 1,589,135(5) 9.54%
29 Christy Drive
Warren, New Jersey 07059
Dennis Adams.........cooovvciviviiiiiiiieaeeeees 2,032,004(6) 11.88%
120 Kynlyn Road
Radnor, Pennsylvania 19807
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AMOUNT PERCENT

NAME OF BENEFICIAL OWNER OWNED(1) OF CLASS
Michael and Susan Weisbrot..........cccccoeeeeeeee. L 1,198,562(7) 7.37%
Michael K. Reicher.........cccoovevevicieenne L 1,420,295(8) 8.62%
Gerald F. Price.....coovvviiiiiiiiieeeeeees 654,103(9) 4.16%
William SKelly........cocoevviiiiiiiiiieee. 192,500(10) 1.26%
Bruce F. WeSSON......covvvveiiiiiiiiiiiiiieee -- *

Srini Conjeevaram......ccoceeeencveeeesiiieees - *

Alan J. Smith.........cocvvviiiiiiii. 71,176(11)

William A. SUMNEr....cccovvviiiiiiiiiiiiieeee 42,500(12) *

Zubeen Shroff.......ccccvviiviiiiiiee *

Peter A. Clemens......c.ccccovvveviniccneenneee 618,733(13) 3.95%
Joel D. Liffmann...... . - *
Phyllis Lambridis.......ccccoovvvvvvevenneee. 37,500(14) *
James Emigh......ccocoovviiiiiiiniiiiiieeee 119,500(15) *
All Directors and executive officers as a group (15

0= £ 1) 3,336,208(16) 18.13%

* Represents less than 1% of the outstanding sleditee Company's Common Stock.

(1) The information with respect to Hemant K. Slkaald Varsha H. Shah, Dennis Adams and Michael asdr8Weisbrot, is based upon
filings with the Commission and/or information prded to the Company.

(2) Includes (i) 17,874,129 shares issuable upowesion of Debentures, (ii) 5,283,278 shares Idguapon exercise of Warrants, (iii)
1,556,694 shares issuable upon exercise of comtook gurchase warrants issued in connection wighBttidge Loans, (iv) 3,133,366 shares
issuable upon conversion of debentures issueé@unai quarterly cash interest payments, (v) 2, M ghares issuable upon conversion of
Bridge Loans, and (vi) 127,500 shares subjectacksbptions.

(3) Includes (i) 1,894,532 shares issuable upowemion of Debentures, (ii) 561,020 shares issuapts exercise of Warrants, (iii) 130,845
shares issuable upon exercise of common stock aseclarrants issued in connection with Bridge Lpand (iv) 333,638 shares issuable
upon conversion of debentures issued in lieu oftqug cash interest payments, and (v) 249,085eshissuable upon conversion of Bridge
Loan promissory notes.

(4) Includes (i) 7,122,508 shares issuable uponemion of the 1999 Debentures, (ii) 2,020,200 ehigsuable upon exercise of the 1999
Warrants (i) 22,500 shares subject to stock aygtj@and (iv) 924,726 shares issuable upon conveddidebentures issued in lieu of quarterly
cash interest payments.

(5) Includes (i) 936,168 shares issuable upon asitve of Debentures, (ii) 261,782 shares issuaptsexercise of Warrants, (iii) 17,338
shares issuable upon exercise of common stock aseclvarrants issued in connection with Bridge Lpand (iv) 39,573 shares issuable
upon conversion of Bridge Loan promissory notes.

(6) Includes (i) 1,247,329 shares issuable uponemion of Debentures, and
(i) 369,987 shares issuable upon exercise of WWtsra

(7) Includes (i) 667,067 shares issuable upon awive of Debentures, (ii) 193,357 shares issuaptaexercise of Warrants, (iii) 5,475
shares issuable upon exercise of common stock gseclvarrants issued in connection with the Bridgan_Transactions, and (iv) 42,525
shares issuable upon conversion of the Bridge Ippamissory notes.

(8) Includes (i) 111,152 shares issuable upon awitve of Debentures, (ii) 39,665 shares issuabtegxercise of Warrants, (iii) 23,241
issuable upon conversion of debentures issueéuindi quarterly cash interest payments and (iV37,500 shares subject to currently
exercisable common stock purchase options.
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(9) Includes 212,500 shares subject to currentiy@gable common stock purchase options.
(10) Includes 182,500 shares subject to currexityasable common stock purchase options.

(112) Includes (i) 42,500 shares subject to curyesercisable common stock purchase options, §ii349 shares issuable upon conversion of
Debentures, (i) 5,342 shares issuable upon eseifi commons stock purchase warrants, and (ivsBages issuable upon exercise of
common stock purchase warrants issued in connegitbrthe Bridge Loans.

(12) Includes 42,500 shares subject to currentiy@gable common stock purchase options.

(13) Includes (i) 88,346 shares issuable upon awive of Debentures, (ii) 26,443 shares issuabtgxercise of Warrants, (iii) 13,074
issuable upon conversion of debentures issueé@unai quarterly cash interest payments and (iv) 3@Y shares subject to currently
exercisable common stock purchase options.

(14) Includes 12,500 shares subject to currentiy@sgable stock options.
(15) Includes 74,500 shares subject to currentty@sable stock options.

(16) Includes 2,792,538 shares which Directorseatatutive officers have the right to acquire wittiie next 60 days through the conversion
of Debentures, exercise of Warrants, exercise afrélvits issued in connection with Bridge Loans dmedexercise of outstanding options.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS.

On March 10, 1998, the Company completed a prigHtging of securities (the "Galen Offering") to l&a Partners lll, L.P., Galen Partners
International, L.P., Galen Employee Fund Ill, L.gllectively "Galen") and each of the purchadisted on the signature page to a certain
Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agreement datechM&xc1998 (inclusive of Galen, collectively thedl€n Investor Group”). The
securities issued in the Offering consisted of B¥vertible senior secured debentures (the "1998&btebes") and common stock purchase
warrants. After giving effect to the Company's @ste of additional debentures to Galen in satisfiaaf interest payments under the 1998
Debentures and the 1999 Debentures described baioaggregate of approximately 29,193,483 shaeessumable to Galen upon conversion
of outstanding convertible debentures and exedfiseitstanding common stock purchase warrants dskualen. See "Security Ownership
of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.”

Each of Messrs. Wesson, Conjeevaram and Shroffinems to the Board of Directors, are designeesefXalen Investor Group pursuant to
the terms of the Galen Offering Purchase Agreemitth provides, among other things, that the Cormgpanst nominate and appoint to the
Board of Directors, subject to shareholder appranaée designees of the Galen Investor Groupddoisg as the 1998 Debentures and
Warrants remain outstanding. Each of Messrs. Wessonjeevaram and Shroff is a General Partner térizassociates, an affiliate of each
of the Galen entities included in the Galen Inve&ooup.

The Company secured bridge financing from Galencamthin other lenders in the aggregate amounpprfoimately $7,000,000, funded
through five separate bridge loan transactionsnduttie period from August 15, 2001 through ApriBp2 (collectively, the "2001/2002
Galen Bridge Loans"). Approximately $6,525,000 ggeegate principal amount of the 2001/2002 GaleddérLoans was advanced by Ge
with a balance of approximately $475,000 advancedstain members of the Galen Investor Group. T0812002 Galen Bridge Loans
accrue interest at the rate of 10% per annum,eamered by a lien on all the Company's assets avel daanaturity date of April 30, 2002. In
consideration for the extension of the 2001/200G8ridge Loans, the Company issued common staokhase warrants to Galen to
purchase an aggregate of 586,860 shares of the &grspcommon stock. The warrants issued pursuahetd001/2002 Galen Bridge Loans
have an exercise price equal to the fair marketevaf the Company's common stock on the date oarg= of such warrant, subject to full-
ratchet dilution protection to equal the lower fhase price/conversion price of the Company's siéesiissued in a subsequent offering. The
2001/2002 Galen Bridge Loans were obtained by tm@any in order to provide necessary working chpita

The Company has received a commitment from Galén &xtend the maturity date of that portion of tt001/2002 Galen Bridge Loans
advanced by Galen (representing approximately $608® of the
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outstanding $7,000,000 in bridge financing provitethe Company), to January 1, 2003 (the "2001ZZ0dge Loan Maturity Date
Extension”), and (ii) fund the Company's workingital requirements through December 31, 2002 irfaha of additional bridge loan
financing (the "2002 Galen Bridge Loan Commitmentfinder the general terms agreed to between thep@ayrand Galen, in consideration
for the 2001/2002 Bridge Loan Maturity Date Extemsithe Company would issue common stock purchaseants to Galen to purchase an
aggregate of approximately 1,733,000 shares ofthmapany's common stock, representing 100,000 sbathe Company's common stock
for each $1,000,000 in bridge financing providedemthe 2001/2002 Galen Bridge Loans for each 98 damaturity date extension throu
January 1, 2003.

With respect to the 2002 Galen Bridge Loan Commitimadvances under the commitment would be made fime to time based upon the
Company's working capital requirements, would be@arest at the rate of 10% per annum, would bareecby a lien on all the Company's
assets and would have a maturity date of Decenthe2(®2. The promissory notes to be issued purdaaht 2002 Galen Bridge Loan
Commitment would be convertible into the Compargisimon stock at a conversion price equal to theaaxeof the trading price for the
Company's common stock for the 20 trade days pdicgehe issuance of each promissory note, subjdctl-ratchet dilution protection to
equal the lower purchase price/conversion prigh@iCompany's securities issued in a subsequearirgff In consideration for Galen's
agreement to provide the 2002 Galen Bridge Loan @ibment, the Company will issue to Galen a commtonkspurchase warrant
exercisable for 600,000 shares of the Company'srawmnstock at an exercise price equal to the avearadang price for the Company's
common stock for the 20 trading days precedinggtgance of the warrant. In addition, the Compaitlyisgue additional common stock
purchase warrants to Galen exercisable for up2001000 shares of the Company's common stock,dsauastallments as advances are
made to the Company under the 2002 Galen Bridge CGzamnmitment. The number of warrants issuable byGbmpany for each advance
will equal 100,000 shares of the Company's comntacksfor each $1,000,000 in additional bridge ficiag provided to the Company havi
a term of 90 days. Such additional warrants willdhan exercise price equal to the average tradicg pf the Company's common stock for
the 20 trading days preceding the issuance of sacih warrant, subject to full-ratchet dilution gation to equal the lower purchase
price/conversion price of the Company's securiisged in a subsequent offering. The completiahetransaction contemplated by each of
the 2001/2002 Bridge Loan Maturity Date Extensiod the 2002 Galen Bridge Loan Commitment is suligtite Company's receipt of the
consent of each of Watson and the holders of thepg2oy's outstanding debentures. In view of the eatssobtained for the prior bridge
financings provided to the Company, the Companiciates it will obtain the consents of Watson #mel holders of the Company's
outstanding debentures.

Galen controls approximately 69% of the Compangting securities (without giving effect to the cension of other convertible securities
issued by the Company). Holders of the 1998 Debiestare permitted to vote on all matters submitbesl vote of shareholders, voting
together with holders of common stock as one @askshaving such number of votes as equals the nuofilvetes represented by the
common stock that would be acquired upon convemsi@uch debentures into common stock. Accordin@lglen possesses sufficient voting
rights to control the nomination and election af thoard of directors of the Company without thednteeconvert its debentures into common
stock.

On May 26, 1999, the Company completed a privaeriofy of securities for an aggregate purchaseefap to approximately $22.8 millic
(the "Oracle Offering"). The securities issuedhia Dracle Offering consist of 5% convertible sesiecured debentures (the "1999
Debentures™) and common stock purchase warrargs'{#09 Warrants"). The 1999 Debentures and 199@ahts were issued by the
Company pursuant to a certain Debenture and WabPnanthase Agreement dated May 26, 1999 (the "ORaalehase Agreement”) by and
among the Company, Oracle Strategic Partners,(IPacle") and such other investors in the CommaNarch 10, 1998 Offering electing to
participate in the Oracle Offering (inclusive ofd@le, collectively, the "Oracle Investor Group™n @e closing date of the Oracle Offering,
the Company issued an aggregate of approximatéy8$2,000 in principal amount of 1999 Debenturesadcordance with the Oracle
Purchase Agreement, Oracle funded an additionatifon investment
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installment on July 27, 1999. Pursuant to an ages¢meached between the Company and Oracle on N2&c2000, the final $5 million
investment to be made to Oracle has been waived.

The holders of the 1999 Debentures (including @Jaate permitted to vote on all matters submitted tote of shareholders of the Comp:
voting together with holders of common stock as dass and having such number of votes as equalsuimber of votes represented by the
common stock that would be acquired upon convermsidghe 1999 Debentures into common stock. AccalglirOracle controls a significant
percentage of the Company's common stock with@uh#ded to convert the 1999 Debentures into comrtamk.sThe Oracle Purchase
Agreement also provides that the Company must na@iand appoint to the Board of Directors, subigshareholder approval, one desig
of the Oracle Investor Group for so long as the9lP8bentures and 1999 Warrants remain outstanifingloel D. Liffmann, a current
member of the Board of Directors, is a designeth®fOracle Investor Group and is a General Padh@racle Partners, L.P.

PART IV
ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AN D REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
(a) Financial Statements -- See Index to Finar@talements.
(b) Reports on Form 8-K
No reports on Form-K were filed during the last quarter of the fisgahr covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
(c) Exhibits

The following exhibits are included as a part aé thnnual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated heigy reference.

EXHIBIT

NUMBER DOCUMENT

3.1  Certificate of Incorporation and amendme nts (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registra nt's Annual Report
on 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999).

3.2  Restated Bylaws (incorporated by referen ce to Exhibit 3.1 to
the Registrant's Quarterly Report on For m 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 1993).

3.3 Restated By-Laws (incorporated by refere nce to Exhibit 3.3
to the Registrant's Annual Report Form 1 0-K for the year
ended December 31, 1998 (the "1998 Form 10-K").

10.1  Credit Agreement, dated as of December 2 2, 1992, among the
Registrant and The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A. (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Regi strant's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended D ecember 31, 1992
(the "1992 Form 10-K")).

10.2  Amendment Two, dated as of January 12, 1 994, to Credit
Agreement among the Registrant and The C hase Manhattan Bank,
N.A., together with forms of Stock Warra nt and Registration
Rights Agreement (incorporated by refere nce to Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant's Annual Report on For m 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1993 (the "1993 Form 10-K").

10.3  Amendment Three, dated as of May 31, 199 4, to Credit
Agreement among the Registrant and The C hase Manhattan Bank,
N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 6(a) to the
Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10 -Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 1994).

10.4 Amendment Four, dated as of July 1994, t o Credit Agreement
among the Registrant and The Chase Manha ttan Bank, N.A.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6( a) to the
Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10 -Q for the quarter

ended June 30, 1994).
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EXHIBIT

NUMBER DOCUMENT

10.5 Amendment Five, dated as of March 21, 19
Agreement among the Registrant and The C
N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhib
Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K
(the "March 8-K")).

10.5(1) Form of Warrants issued to The Bank of N
Manhattan Bank, N.A. and the Israel Disc
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K
December 31, 1995 (the "1995 Form 10-K")

10.5(2) Letter Agreement, dated July 10, 1995, a
Co., Inc., The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A
York and Israel Discount Bank of New Yor
reference to Exhibit 6(a) to the Registr
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ende
"June 10-Q").

10.5(3) Letter Agreement, dated November 16, 199
Co., Inc., The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A
York and Israel Discount Bank of New Yor
reference to Exhibit 10.25(iv) to the 19

10.5(4) Amendment 6, dated as of August 6, 1996,
among Halsey Drug Co., Inc., The Chase M
The Bank of New York and Israel Discount
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report o
quarter ended June 30, 1996 (the "June 1

10.5(5) Letter Agreement, dated March 25, 1997 a
Co., Inc., The Chase Manhattan Bank, as
interest to The Chase Manhattan Bank (Na
The Bank of New York and Israel Discount

10.6  Agreement Regarding Release of Security
of March 21, 1995 by and among the Compa
Chemical Acquisition, Inc. and The Chase
N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhib
8-K).

10.7  Consulting Agreement dated as of Septemb
Registrant and Joseph F. Limongelli (inc
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the 1993 Fo

10.8  Employment Agreement, dated as of Januar
the Registrant and Rosendo Ferran (incor
to Exhibit 10.2 to the 1992 Form 10-K).

10.10(1) Halsey Drug Co., Inc. 1984 Stock Option
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
10-K).

10.10(2) Halsey Drug Co., Inc. 1995 Stock Option
Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference
the Registrant's Registration Statement
No. 33-98396).

10.10(3) Halsey Drug Co., Inc. Non-Employee Direc
Plan.

10.11 Leases, effective February 13, 1989 and
respectively, among the Registrant and M
Sue Ackerman, Lee Hinderstein, Thelma Hi
Marilyn Weiss (incorporated by reference
and 10.7, respectively, to the Registran
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31

10.12 Lease, effective as of April 15, 1988, a
and Milton J. Ackerman, Sue Ackerman, Le
Thelma Hinderstein and Marilyn Weiss, an
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K
December 31, 1987).

10.12(l) Lease, as of October 31, 1994, among Reg
J. Ackerman, Sue Ackerman, Lee Hinderste
Hinderstein and Marilyn Weiss, together
Consolidation and Extension Agreement (i
reference to Exhibit 10.12(i) to the 199
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EXHIBIT

NUMBER DOCUMENT

10.13 Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of Mar
Mallinckrodt Chemical Acquisition, Inc.
Mallinckrodt Chemical, Inc., as guaranto
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
8-K).

10.14  Toll Manufacturing Agreement for APAP/Ox
dated as of March 21, 1995 between Acqui
Registrant (incorporated by reference to
March 8-K).

10.15 Capsule ANDA Option Agreement dated as o
between Acquisition and the Registrant (
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the March 8

10.16  Tablet ANDA Noncompetition Agreement dat
1995 between the Registrant and Acquisit
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the March 8

10.17  Subordinated Non-Negotiable Promissory T
amount of $1,200,00 dated March 21, 1995
Registrant to Acquisition (incorporated
Exhibit 10.5 to the March 8-K).

10.18 Term Note Security Agreement dated as of
among the Company, Houba, Inc. and Acqui
by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Marc

10.19 Amendment dated March 21, 1995 to Subord
dated as of July 21, 1994 between Mallin
Inc., Mallinckrodt Chemical Acquisition,
Registrant, The Chase Manhattan Bank (Na
Israel Discount Bank of New York, The Ba
The Chase Manhattan Bank (National Assoc
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
8-K).

10.20 Agreement dated as of March 30, 1995 bet
and Zatpack, Inc. (incorporated by refer
10.10 to the March 8-K).

10.21  Waiver and Termination Agreement dated a
between Zuellig Group, W.A., Inc. and In
Corporation (incorporated by reference t
the March 8-K).

10.22  Convertible Subordinated Note of the Reg
December 1, 1994 issued to Zatpack, Inc.
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the March

10.23 Agreement dated as of March 30, 1995 amo
Indiana Fine Chemicals Corporation, Zuel
Inc., Houba Inc., Zetapharm, Inc. and Zu
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhib
March 8-K).

10.24  Supply Agreement dated as of March 30, 1
Inc. and ZetaPharm, Inc. (incorporated b
Exhibit 10.14 to the March 8-K).

10.25 Form of 10% Convertible Subordinated Deb
by reference to Exhibit 6(a) to the June

10.26  Form of Redeemable Common Stock Purchase
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6(

10-Q).

10.27 Form of 10% Convertible Subordinated Deb
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Regis
Report on Form 8-K dated December 4, 199
8-K")).

10.28 Form of Redeemable Common Stock Purchase
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.

8-K).

10.29 Form of 10% Convertible Subordinated Deb
by reference to Exhibit 99 to the June 1

10.30 Form of Redeemable Common Stock Purchase
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.
to the June 1996 10-Q).

10.31  Form of 5% Convertible Senior Secured De
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.
Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K
(the "March 1998 8-K")).
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EXHIBIT

NUMBER DOCUMENT

10.32  Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (i
reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the March 19

10.33 Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agreement
1998, by and among the Registrant, Galen
and the other Purchasers listed on the S
thereto (incorporated by reference to Ex
March 1998 8-K).

10.34 Form of General Security Agreement of Ha
dated March 10, 1998 (incorporated by re
10.2 to the March 1998 8-K).

10.35 Form of Agreement of Guaranty of Subsidi
Co., Inc. dated March 10, 1998 (incorpor
Exhibit 10.3 to the March 1998 8-K).

10.36  Form of Guarantor General Security Agree
1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhib
1998 8-K).

10.37  Stock Pledge Agreement dated March 10, 1
the Registrant and Galen Partners I, L
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
8-K).

10.38 Form of Irrevocable Proxy Agreement (inc
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the March 1

10.39 Agency Letter Agreement dated March 10,
the Purchasers a party to the Debenture
Agreement, dated March 10, 1998 (incorpo
to Exhibit 10.7 to the March 1998 8-K).

10.40 Press Release of Registrant dated March
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99
8-K).

10.41 Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by t
the Securities and Exchange Commission o

10.42 Letter Agreement between the Registrant
Department of Justice dated March 27, 19
restructuring of the fine assessed by th
Justice under the Plea Agreement dated J

10.43 Employment Agreement dated as of March 1
Registrant and Michael K. Reicher (incor
to Exhibit 10.43 to the Registrant's Ann
10-K for the year ended December 31, 199
10-K").

10.44 Employment Agreement dated as of March 1
Registrant and Peter Clemens (incorporat
Exhibit 10.44 to the 1997 Form 10-K.

10.45 Amended, Restated and Consolidated Bridg
dated as of December 2, 1998 between the
Partners lll, L.P., Galen Partners Inter
Galen Employee Fund Ill, L.P. and the ot
thereto (incorporated by reference to Ex
1998 Form 10-K).

10.46  First Amendment to Amended, Restated and
Loan Agreement dated December 7, 1998 be
and the lenders listed on the signature
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
10-K).

10.47 Second Amendment to Amended, Restated an
Bridge Loan Agreement dated March 8, 199
Company and the lenders listed on the si
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
10-K).

10.48 Form of 10% Convertible Secured Note due
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
10-K).

10.49 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant is
Amended, Restated and Consolidated Bridg
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
10-K).
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10.50 Amended and Restated General Security Ag
December 2, 1998 between the Company and
L.P., as Agent (incorporated by referenc
to the 1998 Form 10-K).

10.51 Subordination Agreement dated December 2
Registrant and Galen Partners I, L.P.,
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
10-K).

10.52 Agency Letter Agreement dated December 2
the lenders a party to the Amended, Rest
Consolidated Bridge Loan Agreement, as a
by reference to Exhibit 10.52 to the 199

10.53 Lease Agreement dated March 17, 1999 bet
and Par Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorpora
Exhibit 10.53 to the 1998 Form 10-K).

10.54 Lease Agreement dated September 1, 1998
Registrant and Crimson Ridge Partners (i
reference to Exhibit 10.54 to the 1998 F

10.55 Manufacturing and Supply Agreement dated
between the Registrant and Par Pharmaceu
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
10-K).

10.56 Halsey Drug Co., Inc. 1998 Stock Option
by reference to Exhibit 10.56 to the 199

10.57 Loan Agreement dated March 29, 2000 betw
and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorp
to Exhibit 10.57 to the Registrant's Cur
8-K dated March 29, 2000 (the "March 200

10.58 Amendment to Loan Agreement dated March
Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals, |
reference to Exhibit 10.58 to the March

10.59 Secured Promissory Note in the principal
$17,500,000 issued by the Registrant, as
of Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dated Ma
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
2000 8-K).

10.60 Watson Security Agreement dated March 29
Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals, |
reference to Exhibit 10.60 to the March

10.61 Stock Pledge Agreement dated March 29, 2
Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals, |
reference to Exhibit 10.61 to the March

10.62 Watson Guarantee dated March 29, 2000 be
and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as the
favor of Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (i
reference to Exhibit 10.62 to the March

10.63 Watson's Guarantors Security Agreement d
between Halsey Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Ho
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by r
10.63 to the March 2000 8-K).

10.64 Subordination Agreement dated March 29,
the Registrant, Watson Pharmaceuticals,
of the Registrant's outstanding 5% conve
due March 10, 2003. (incorporated by ref
10.64 to the March 2000 8-K).+

10.65 Real Estate Mortgage dated March 29, 200
Inc. and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (i
reference to Exhibit 10.65 to the March

10.66 Subordination Agreement by and among Hou
Partners, I, L.P., Oracle Strategic Pa
Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporat
Exhibit 10.66 to the March 2000 8-K).

10.67 Product Purchase Agreement dated March 2
Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals, |
reference to Exhibit 10.67 to the March,

10.68 Finished Goods Supply Agreement dated Ma
the Registrant and Watson Pharmaceutical
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
2000 8-K).+
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10.69 Active Ingredient Supply Agreement dated
between the Registrant and Watson Pharma
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
2000 8-K).+

10.70 Right of First Negotiation Agreement dat
between the Registrant and Watson Pharma
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
2000 8-K).+

10.71  Finished Goods Supply Agreement (Core Pr
29, 2000 between the Registrant and Wats
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhib
March 2000 8-K).+

10.72  Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agreement
by and among the Registrant, Oracle Stra
and the other purchasers listed on the s
thereto (the "Oracle Purchase Agreement"
reference to Exhibit 10.72 to the Regist
on Form 10-K for the year ended December

10.73  Form of 5% Convertible Senior Secured De
pursuant to the Oracle Purchase Agreemen
reference to Exhibit 10.73 to the Regist
on Form 10-K for the year ended December

10.74  Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant is
Oracle Purchase Agreement (incorporated
Exhibit 10.74 to the Registrant's Annual
for the year ended December 31, 1999).

10.75 Lease Termination and Settlement Agreeme
2000 between the Registrant and Atlantic
in respect of the Registrant's Brooklyn,
facility (incorporated by reference to E
Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K
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21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant (incorpor
Exhibit 22 to the 1993 Form 10-K).
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Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regiigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized.

HALSEY DRUG CO,, INC.

By: /'s/ M CHAEL RElI CHER

M chael Rei cher,
Chai rman and Chi ef Executive O ficer
(Principal Executive Oficer)

Date: April 12, 2002

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated.

/s/ WILLIAM G. SKELLY Director April 12, 20 02

William G. Skelly

/sl MICHAEL REICHER Chief Executive Officer and April 12, 20 02
Director (Principal Executive
Michael Reicher Officer)
/sl GERALD F. PRICE President and Director April 12, 20 02

Gerald F. Price

/sl PETER CLEMENS Vice President, Chief Financial  April 12, 20 02
Officer (Principal Financial and
Peter Clemens Accounting Officer) and Director
/sl ALAN J. SMITH Director April 12, 20 02
Alan J. Smith
/s BRUCE F. WESSON Director April 12, 20 02

Bruce F. Wesson

/s/ WILLIAM SUMNER Director April 12, 20 02

William Sumner

/s/ SRINI CONJEEVARAM Director April 12, 20 02

Srini Conjeevaram

/sl ZUBEEN SHROFF Director April 12, 20 02

Zubeen Shroff

/s JOEL LIFFMANN Director April 12, 20 02

Joel Liffmann
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Board of Directors
HALSEY DRUG CO., INC.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Halsey Drug Co., Inc. and Subsidiasesf December 31, 2001 and 2000,
and the related consolidated statements of opaestgtockholders' equity (deficit) and cash floasdach of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2001. These financial stateraemthe responsibility of the Company's managen@ut responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with aud&iagdards generally accepted in the United StdtAsnerica. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reabtmassurance about whether the financial statsnaes free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidesnpporting the amounts and disclosures in then6ig statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well asairgj the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits providesaonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of Halsey
Drug Co., Inc. and Subsidiaries as of DecembeBQ1 and 2000, and the consolidated results of tiperations and their consolidated cash
flows for each of the three years in the periodeehbDecember 31, 2001, in conformity with accounpngciples generally accepted in the
United States of America.

GRANT THORNTON LLP

Melville, New York
February 15, 2002, except for Notes B and |, agltich the date is April 15, 2002
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CURRENT ASSETS

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Accounts receivable -- trade, net of allowance fo
doubtful accounts of $347 and $315 in 2001 and

respectively.

Inventories.......cccccveeeeeenn.

Prepaid expenses and other current assets.

Total current assets.........
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET
DEFERRED PRIVATE OFFERING COSTS

OTHER ASSETS AND DEPOSITS................

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Notes payable....................
Convertible subordinated debentures, net
Accounts payable...............
Accrued expenses..............

Department of Justice settlement.................

Total current liabilities.....

CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES, NET...........
TERM NOTE PAYABLE...........oociiiiiiiiee
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE SETTLEMENT

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)........

Common stock -- $.01 par value; authorized, 80,0
shares; issued and outstanding, 15,065,240 sha
14,961,316 shares in 2001 and 2000, respectivel

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit............

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktetements.

DECEMBER 31,

(IN THOUSANDS)

......... $ 442 $ 697

r
2000,
......... 367 3,487
......... 2,729 2,769
......... 238 1,190
......... 3,776 8,143
......... 5,998 5,332
......... 672 1,138
......... 623 596
$ 11,069 $15,209
......... $ 2,568 $1,844
......... 2,500
......... 2,979 2,783
......... 6,205 5,777
......... 300 300
......... 12,052 13,204
......... 46,179 42,279
......... 17,500 12,000
......... 774 1,075
0,000
res and
Verreeenn 151 149

35,914 35,440
(101,501) (88,938)

$ 11,069 $15,209




HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2001 2000 1999

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
Product SaleS.....cccoovvvvviieiieicieiveseeee $ 8,429 $15223 $11,420
Product development revenues.......ccccccceveeeeee. 8,500 5,000 --

Net product revenues........cccceceeveeevcees 16,929 20,223 11,420
Operating costs
Cost of manufacturing......cccccceeeeeeeveeees L 14,857 18,743 15,316
Research and development........cccccccoeeeee. Ll 1,327 1,821 1,075
Selling, general and administrative expenses..... ... 6,616 6,208 7,383
Plant shutdown CcOStS.......cccoovvvvvevvcce. 68 53 3,220
Loss from operationS......cccccoeeeeeeveeeeees (5,939) (6,602) (15,574)
Other income (expense)
Interest expense, Net......ccccovveveeeevccee. L (3,844) (3,037) (2,851)
Amortization of deferred debt discount and privat e
offering CostS.......oovvvvvvvviiiiiee. (2,591) (2,448) (1,825)
Investment in joint venture.........ccccoeeeeee. Ll (202) (57)
Other. .o 13 101 187
Loss before income tax benefit......ccccoeceecce... L (12,563) (12,043) (20,063)
Income tax benefit........cooocveevviieeeees. L - 389 -
NET LOSS...coiiiiiiiiiiiieiieeeeeeneee $(12,563) $(11,654) $(20,063)
Basic and diluted loss per common share........... . ... $ (84) $ (.80) $ (1.40)
Weighted average number of outstanding shares...... ... 15,021 14,503 14,326

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktetements.



HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEF ICIT)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001, 2000 AND 1999

COMMON STOCK,

$.01 PAR VALUE TREASURY
--------------- ADDITIONAL  ACCUMULATED STOCK,
SHARES AMOUNT PAID-IN CAPITAL DEFICIT AT COST TOTAL
(IN THOUSANDS)
Balance at January 1, 1999..... 14,443 $144 $29,113 $(57,221) $(989) $(28,953
Issuance of shares in payment
of interest.................. 322 3 524 527

Deferred debt discount on
warrants and private issuance

COSHS...oovvieeenriieeeenne 5,641 5,641
Warrants issued for acquisition

of ANDA.......ccoeveiiie 350 350
Exercise of warrants........... 29 1 49 50
Issuance of shares in payment

of legal fees................ 26 50 50
Issuance of shares in payment

of accounts payable.......... 10 24 24
Net loss for the year ended

December 31, 1999............ (20,063) (20,063
Balance at December 31, 1999... 14,830 $148 $35,751 $(77,284) $(989) $(42,374
Issuance of shares in payment

of interest.................. 920 1 251 252
Conversion of debentures....... 9 12 12
Deferred private issuance

COSHS...ovvieieiriieeeenne 125 125
Issuance of shares in payment

of legal fees................ 12 15 15
Issuance of shares in payment

of accounts payable.......... 20 23 23
Reissuance of treasury stock... (737) 989 252

Net loss for the year ended

December 31, 2000. (11,654) (11,654
Balance at December 31, 2000... 14,961 $149 $35,440 $(88,938) $ -- $(53,349
Issuance of shares in payment

of interest.................. 52 1 69 70
Exercise of stock options...... 52 1 95 96
Issuance of warrants in

connection with debt......... 310 310
Net loss for the year ended

December 31, 2001............ (12,563) (12,563
Balance at December 31, 2001... 15,065 $151 $35,914 $(101,501) $ -- $(65,436

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofstiaitement.
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities
NEet [0SS.....ueveiiiiiiieeiiiee e

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash use
operating activities
Depreciation and amortization..................
Amortization of deferred debt discount and priv
offering CostS...........ooovvviiiiiinnnnns
Amortization of deferred product acquisition co
Provision for (recovery of) losses on accounts
receivable..........ocooiiiiiiiiinnns
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets..............
Stock issued for legal expense.................
Stock issued for trade payables................
Debentures and stock issued for interest expens
Write-down of investment in affiliate..........
Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable................c.c.....
INventories........cccoovvveeeeniieeeeeene
Prepaid expenses and other current assets....
Other assets and deposits....................
Accounts payable.............cccoeeeene
Other liabilities.......
Accrued expenses..

Total adjustments..........cccceeeviveeeenne
Net cash used in operating activities..........

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures...........ccccceeevuveeenn.
Capital contribution to joint venture..
Net proceeds from sale of assets.................

Net cash used in investing activities..........

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable..........
Payments to Department of Justice................
Exercise of stock options............ccccceuuee
Repayment of debentures...
Payments on notes payable

Proceeds from issuance of convertible subordinate

Debentures...........cccoeeeeeeecciiiininnnns
Proceeds from exercise of stock warrants.........
Reissuance of treasury stock.....................
Deferred private offering costs..................

Net cash provided by financing activities......

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year.....

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year...........
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2001

2000 1999

(IN THOUSANDS)

......... $(12,563) $(11,654) $(20,063)

din

......... 861 644 914
ate

......... 2,591 2,448 1,825
sts...... 35 61 --
......... (84) 129 4
......... 68 (93) 1,709
......... - 15 50
......... - 23 24
[T 2,154 1,858 939
......... 202 57 -
......... 20 (906) (1,281)
......... 40 732 2,852
......... 952 (809) (65)
......... (174) (38) (157)
......... 2,324 388 399
......... - - (549)
......... 1,484 474 1,444
......... 10,473 4,983 8,108
......... (2,090) (6,671) (11,955)
......... (1,544) (2,962) (918)
......... (89) (170) -
......... 28 93 69
......... (1,605) (3,039) (849)
......... 7,700 13,800 4,000
......... (301) (300) (300)
......... 96 - -

......... (2,200) - -
......... (1,855) (4,006) (9,464)
d

......... - - 17,862
......... - - 49

......... - 252 -
......... - (125) (407)
......... 3,440 9,621 11,740
......... (255) (89) (1,064)
......... 697 786 1,850

......... $ 442 $ 697 $ 786




HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS -- (CONTINUED )
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001, 2000 AND 1999

Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing sxah¢ing activities:
Year ended December 31, 2001
1. The Company issued 51,924 shares of common a®plyment for approximately $70,000 in deberdoceued interest.

2. The Company issued 187,500 warrants (Note b aiit estimated relative fair value of $310,000dnrection with the issuance of bridge
loans.

3. The Company issued $2,085,000 of debentureayanent of like amounts of debenture accrued interes

4. The Company has repaid $3,979,000 of indebtednese form of product deliveries.

5. Equipment financed through capital leases aggegigapproximately $79,000.

6. The Company issued $300,000 in notes payal#®dhange for $300,000 in debentures that matured.
Year ended December 31, 2000

1. The Company issued 89,638 and 32,000 sharesmahon stock as payment for $252,113 in debentureiad interest and $38,000 in tri
payables and legal expenses.

2. The Company issued warrants to purchase 125/08@s of common stock for the extension of th&2ZBalen Bridge Loan(s) maturity
dates and recorded $124,750 as deferred privatarise costs. The issuance costs were fully expehs#ny 2000.

3. The Company issued $1,858,190 of debentureayamgnt for like amounts of debenture accrued istere
4. Debentures of $12,403 were converted into 8sB24es of the Company's common stock.
5. The Company has paid $1,002,845 of indebtednebe form of product deliveries.
Year ended December 31, 1999
1. The Company issued 321,777 shares of commok atopayment for $526,779 in accrued interest.

2. The Company issued 26,106 shares of common a®plkyment for $50,500 in legal fees and 9,846eshaf common stock as payment
$24,000 in trade payables.

3. The Company issued approximately 3,608,604 wtsr@ote H) valued and recorded in the aggrega®&b#34,000 of unamortized debt
discount and a reduction in the amount of the edlabligation.

4. The Company converted approximately $6,609,00mtes payable and approximately $428,000 of axtiterest on notes payable into
convertible subordinated debentures.

5. The Company converted approximately $939,008cofued interest due from convertible subordindtgzbntures into additional
debentures.

6. The Company issued 1,022,284 warrants for fuptias valued and recorded as $907,000 in defprieate issuance costs.

7. The Company issued 500,000 warrants to Barr lzboes, Inc. valued and recorded as $350,00€hoacquisition of certain product
rights.

The accompanying notes are an integral part okteegements.
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2001, 2000 AND 1999

NOTE A -- SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Halsey Drug Co., Inc. (the "Company" or "Halse@'New York corporation established in 1935, andgiitssidiaries, are engaged in the
development, manufacture, sale, and distributiogenferic drugs and active pharmaceutical ingregli€AtP1s"). During the last several ye:
the Company has sought to diversify its businegesigh strategic acquisitions and alliances anolih the development of technologies
the synthesis and production of APIs intended &be o third parties as well as for use by the Camypand others as raw materials in the
manufacture of finished drug forms.

A summary of the significant accounting policiesisistently applied in the preparation of the accanyjing consolidated financial stateme
follows.

1. PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION AND BASIS OF PRESEATION

The consolidated financial statements include 100%e accounts of the Company and its wholly-owseldsidiaries, Houba, Inc., Halsey
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Blue Cross Products Co., Indiana Fine Chemicals Corporation, Cenci PovRteducts, Inc., H.R. Cenci
Laboratories, Inc., and The Me@ium Corporation. Except for Houba, Inc., all of ttker subsidiaries are inactive. All material ratmpany
accounts and transactions have been eliminatednd001, the Company proceeded to dissolve atsahactive subsidiaries with the
exception of Halsey Pharmaceuticals, Inc. The tiisiem of the inactive subsidiaries had no impatttoe consolidated financial position,
results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

2. INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or etaakd include material, labor and manufacturingrbgad. The first-in, first-out method is
used to determine the cost of inventories.

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cestdecumulated depreciation and amortization. Majprovements are capitalized and
maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurepde€ation and amortization are provided for iroants sufficient to relate the cost of
depreciable assets to operations over their esttrggrvice lives, principally on a straight-linesisa The estimated lives used in determining
depreciation and amortization are:

Building and building improvements................. ... 20 -39 years
Machinery and equipment..............cccccvveeeens ... 3-10years
Leasehold improvements.........c.cccceevvevnnnes ... Shorter of the life of the lease or

the service life of the asset

4. DEFERRED DEBT DISCOUNT

Debt discount resulting from the issuance of stwakrants in connection with the issuance of sulmatdid debt (Note H) is recorded as a
reduction of the related obligations and is amedinver the remaining life of the related obligatioDebt discount is determined by a
calculation which is based, in part, by the relafizir values ascribed to such warrants determiyezh independent valuation or
management's use of the Black-Scholes valuatioremod
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2001, 2000 AND 1999

5. INCOME TAXES

The Company accounts for income taxes under thditiamethod in accordance with Statement of FriahAccounting Standards No. 109
("SFAS No. 109"), "Accounting for Income Taxes."dém this method, deferred tax assets and lialsldie determined based on differences
between financial reporting and tax bases of assetdiabilities and are measured using the endatethtes and laws that will be in effect
when the differences are expected to reverse. datiah allowance is established if it is more likdlan not that all, or some portion, of
deferred tax assets will not be realized.

6. STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, tiregany considers all highly liquid debt instrumemtschased with an original maturity of
three months or less to be cash equivalents. Thep@oy paid no substantial income taxes for thesyeaded December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999. In addition, the Company paid interest ofragimately $683,000, $1,253,000 and $720,000, sy, for the years ended Decem
31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

7. USE OF ESTIMATES IN CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATHENTS

In preparing consolidated financial statementsoinfarmity with accounting principles generally aptsd in the United States of America,
management makes estimates and assumptions thett taié reported amounts of assets and liabiiiesdisclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated finahsitatements, as well as the reported amountsvehues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those psites.

8. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

All research and development costs, including paytseelated to licensing agreements on productemutehelopment and research
consulting agreements, are expensed when incurred.

9. ADVERTISING COSTS

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Adsiegiicosts charged to operations for the yearsceBageember 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
were approximately $39,000, $31,000 and $23,0Gpeactively.

10. IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

The Company reviews long-lived assets and certiantifiable intangibles held and used for possifipairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amafigin asset may not be recoverable. See Note #éoimpairment charge related to the
write-off of leasehold improvements of the Comparrooklyn, New York Plant, which closed on March 2001.

11. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has elected to follow Accounting Pples Board Opinion No.

25 ("APB No. 25") "Accounting for Stock Issued tmployees," and related interpretations in accogrfiim its stock options issued to
employees. Under APB No. 25, because the exerdise @f the Company's employee stock options eghalsnarket price of the underlying
stock on the date of grant, no compensation expermseognized. However, Statement of FinancialoArting Standards No. 123 ("SFAS
No. 123"), "Accounting for Sto-Based Compensation," requires presentation ofgrroa net income as if the Company had accounted fo
its employees stock options under the fair valuthoaof that statement.
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2001, 2000 AND 1999

Equity instruments issued to nonemployees in exghdor goods, fees and services are accountedhtteruhe fair value method of SFAS
No. 123.

12. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The computation of basic earnings (loss) per sbhcemmon stock is based upon the weighted averag#wer of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted earningsgtere is based on basic earnings per share atlfostihe effect of other potentially diluti
securities. Excluded from the 2001, 2000 and 1988putation are outstanding warrants and optionstameéffect of convertible debentures
outstanding which would be antidilutive.

13. REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company recognizes revenue, net of sales dissamd allowances, when title to product passesstomers.
14. SHIPPING AND HANDLING COSTS

The Company includes all shipping and handling expe incurred as a component of cost of manufacturi

15. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In July 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Findamataounting Standards No. 141 ("SFAS No. 141"u8Bess Combinations," and
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.(I8ZAS No. 142"), "Goodwill and Other Intangiblesgets.” SFAS No. 141 requires that
the purchase method of accounting be used fowalhless combinations. SFAS No. 141 also specifiteyia that intangible assets acquire

a purchase method business combination must méetrtecognized and reported separately from goodB®AS No. 142 will require that
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite uddifzes no longer be amortized, but instead beetefor impairment at least annually in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142. SBo. 142 will also require that intangible asseith definite useful lives be amortized
over their respective estimated useful lives tartbstimated residual values, and reviewed for inmpant in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 121, "Accounfimgthe Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and fomigd_ived Assets to be Disposed ¢
as amended.

The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No.€lffective July 1, 2001. The adoption of SFAS Nal b&d no effect on the financial
position or results of operations of the CompariyAS No. 142 is effective for the Company beginniaguary 1, 2002. The adoption of
SFAS No. 142 is not expected to have a materiakefin the financial position or results of opanasi of the Company.

In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement of FidAccounting Standards No. 144 ("SFAS No. 144R;counting for the Impairment «
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets." SFAS No. 144 maafifthe rules for accounting for the impairmentispdsal of long-lived assets. The new
rules are effective for the Company on January0022Management does not believe that the impaatiopting SFAS No. 144 will have a
material effect on the Company's consolidated firerstatements.

16. RECLASSIFICATIONS
Certain reclassifications have been made to tlgr pgars' amounts to conform with the current paarésentation.
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2001, 2000 AND 1999

NOTE B -- LIQUIDITY MATTERS

At December 31, 2001, the Company had cash andezpshalents of $442,000, working capital deficigf approximately $8,276,000 and
a stockholders' deficit of approximately $65,436,00he Company incurred a loss of approximately, 332,000 during the year ended
December 31, 2001.

As discussed in Note |, the Company borrowed $4EDfrom certain investors to fund continuing @tiems during January through May
15, 2002. The Company has also received a commitfran certain investors that would provide neceg§aancing to fund the Company's
working capital requirements through December 8D22 Until such time as the Company successfullielbgs and commercializes new
finished dosage products and active pharmaceutigetdients, of which there can be no assuraneeCtimpany will continue to incur
operating losses and negative cash flow. The Coynpalieves that the borrowings received from theegtors, along with the investors'
commitment for additional financings combined witish on hand, will be sufficient to satisfy the Qamy's working capital requirements
through the end of Calendar 2002. The Company astirithat it will be required to obtain additioralirces of financing or a third party
equity investment of approximately $15.0 milliofiywehich $4.5 million has already been funded thtoégril 5, 2002 (see Note 1), to fund
continuing operations through December 31, 2002. Cbmpany is seeking additional funds through aeti@ns related to its business lines
as well as private financings and is currentlydtivee negotiations with certain third parties relgtto a private equity financing. There can be
no assurance, however, that such ongoing negatsatidll be successful or that other sources ofrfiiiag will be available to the Company
acceptable terms, if at all. Failure to obtain sfichncing or equity investment may require the @any to

(i) significantly curtail product development adtigs, (ii) if available, obtain funding throughrangements with collaborative partners or
others on terms that may require the Company boqaish certain rights to its products and techgias, which the Company could othern
pursue on its own, or that would significantly ddiuhe Company's stockholders (iii) significanttyake back or terminate operations, and/or
(iv) seek relief under applicable bankruptcy latsy extended delay in obtaining necessary finanariigresult in the cessation of the
Company's continuing development efforts relatmgg products and technologies and will have eentadverse effect on the Company's
financial condition and results of operations.

NOTE C -- STRATEGIC ALLIANCE WITH WATSON PHARMACEUT ICALS

On March 29, 2000, the Company completed variaadegiic alliance transactions with Watson Pharmiézas, Inc. ("Watson"). The
transactions provided for Watson's purchase oftaicepending ANDA from the Company, for Watsornéghts to negotiate for Halsey to
manufacture and supply certain identified futuredorcts to be developed by Halsey, for Watson's eteagx and sale of the Company's core
products and for Watson's extension of a $17,5@0t€0n loan to the Company. (See Note 1.)

The product acquisition portion of the transactiasith Watson provided for Halsey's sale of a pegdMNDA and related rights (the
"Product") to Watson for aggregate consideratiofik,500,000 (the "Product Acquisition Agreemery.part of the execution of the
Product Acquisition Agreement, the Company and \WWaexecuted ten-year supply agreements coveringdiive pharmaceutical ingredient
("API") and finished dosage form of the Productquamt to which Halsey, at Watson's discretion, méinufacture and supply Watson's
requirements for the Product API and, where th@®bAPI is sourced from the Company, finished desarms of the Product. The
purchase price for the Product was payable in tim&allments as certain milestones are achieved fifst of such milestones was achieved
in April of 2000, whereby the Company received FBgproval and Watson paid the Company $5,000,008pti 2001, Watson remitted
$5,000,000 to the Company representing the secdledtome achievement. The third and last of thestines was achieved in July 2001,
whereby $3,500,000 was received from Watson.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2001, 2000 AND 1999

The Company and Watson also executed a rightsifriggotiation agreement providing Watson withrst fight to negotiate the terms under
which the Company would manufacture and supplyagegpecified APIs and finished dosage productsetdeveloped by the Company. The
right of first negotiation agreement provides thjpbn Watson's exercise of its right to negotiatdtie supply of a particular product, the
parties will negotiate the specific terms of thenufacturing and supply arrangement, including pno@mimum purchase requirements, if a
territory and term. In the event Watson does net@se its right of first negotiation upon recegptvritten notice from the Company as to its
receipt of applicable governmental approval retatma covered product, or in the event the pa#iesunable to reach agreement on the
material terms of a supply arrangement relatinguith product within sixty days of Watson's exeroibgs right to negotiate for such produ
the Company may negotiate with third parties fer sipply, marketing and sale of the applicable peadrhe right of first negotiation
agreement has a term of ten years, subject to ggtem the absence of written notice from eithentypfor two additional periods of five yei
each. The right of first negotiation agreement egpbnly to APl and finished dosage products idiextin the agreement and does not
otherwise prohibit the Company from developing othEls or finished dosage products for itself ardtparties.

The Company and Watson also completed a manufagtarid supply agreement providing for Watson's etarg and sale of the Company's
existing core products portfolio (the "Core Prodgustipply Agreement"). The Core Products Supply &grent obligated Watson to purchase
a minimum amount of approximately $3,060,000 peartgr (the "Minimum Purchase Amount") in core pradurom the Company, through
September 30, 2001 (the "Minimum Purchase Peridd")he expiration of the initial Minimum PurchaBeriod, if Watson did not continue
satisfy the Minimum Purchase Amount, the Companuldi¢then be able to market and sell the core prsdut its own or through a third
party. On August 8, 2001, the Company and Watsecwed an amendment to the Core Products Supplefrgnt providing (i) for a
reduction of the Minimum Purchase Amount from $8,000 to $1,500,000 per quarter, (ii) for an exim®f the Minimum Purchase Period
from the quarter ending September 30, 2001 to quartding September 30, 2002, (iii) for Watsonettover previous advance payments
made under the Core Products Supply Agreementiifottm of the Company's provision of products hg\arpurchase price of up to
$750,000 per quarter (such credit amount to bedess of Watson's $1,500,000 minimum quarterly ipase obligation), and (iv) for the
Company's repayment to Watson of any remaining mctv@ayments made by Watson under the Core Pro8upfdy Agreement (and whic
amount has not been recovered by product delivbsidke Company to Watson as provided in Subse¢fipmbove) in two (2) equal

monthly installments on October 1, 2002 and Novamb2002. Pending the Company's development aredpieof regulatory approval for

its APIs and finished dosage products currentlyenmvelopment, including, without limitation, tReoduct sold to Watson, and the
marketing and sale of same, of which there candb&ssurance, substantially all the Company's reagaupect to be derived from the Core
Products Supply Agreement with Watson. As of Decen®i, 2001, Watson's advance payments were $00@,7and the Company has
provided for the cost of satisfying its obligatitmWatson.

The final component of the Company's strategiaadle with Watson provided for Watson's extensioa $17,500,000 term loan to the
Company ("Watson Term Loan"). The loan was fundeish$tallments upon the Company's request for athsand the provision to Watson
of a supporting use of proceeds relating to each advance. The loan is secured by a first liealbof the Company's assets, senior to the
lien securing all other Company indebtedness, eaaifloating rate of interest equal to prime s percent and matures on March 31, 2
As of December 31, 2001, Watson advanced $17,50Q@the Company (Note I).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2001, 2000 AND 1999

NOTE D -- CARRYING AMOUNT AND FAIR VALUE OF FINANCI AL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalertsiacounts receivable approximates fair value duke short-term maturities of the
instruments. The fair value of the Company's actopayable, long-term and short-term debt cannatdbermined without incurring
excessive costs.

NOTE E -- INVENTORIES
Inventories consist of the following:

DECEMBER 31,

2001 2000

(IN THOUSANDS)
Finished goods........cccocovvviiiniiieeeee. $ 38 $ 225
WOrK-IN-proCess.....cccoovveeiiiiiiieiiiiieeeenee 1,076 1,146
Raw materials...........ccocoovviviiiniiis L 1,615 1,398

NOTE F -- PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are summarized &snfsi

DECEMBER 31,

2001 2000

(IN THOUSANDS)
Machinery and equipment...........ccoceeevvveeeee. . $10,373 $11,411
Construction in progresS.....ccccveeeeeeeeeseeeeee 730 2,694
Leasehold improvements........ccccccovceeeenneees L 1,407 106
Building and building improvements................. ... 2,343 1,000
Land.....ocoooiiiiii e 44 44

14,897 15,255
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization..... ... (8,899) (9,923)

Depreciation and amortization expense for the yeaded December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was apmaely $861,000, $644,000 and
$914,000, respectively.
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DECEMBER 31, 2001, 2000 AND 1999

NOTE G -- ACCRUED EXPENSES
Accrued expenses are summarized as follows:

DECEMBER 31,

2001 2000

(IN THOUSANDS)
INEEIESt. .. $1,001 $1,041
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes.................. ... 177 323
Professional fees.......ccocevvvivvecivcceeeee. L 314 195
Deferred product obligation..........ccoccceeeeeeee. L 3,645 2,846
L 1 Y ORI 1,068 1,372

NOTE H -- CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES AND S TOCK WARRANTS

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, convertible subatdohdebentures outstanding and related debt discelated to the following issuances
are as follows:

DECEMBER 31,

ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES 2001 2000
(IN THOUSANDS)
1996 Debentures(a).....cccceevvveeiveescieeaeee $ - $2,500
1998 Debentures(b) and (C).....ccocvevevvcveeeenes 28,954 27,753
1999 Debentures(d) and (€)...cceevevvevevvevcceeee 19,580 18,693
48,534 48,946
Less: Debt discount.........coccovveevicneeeenne L (2,355) (4,167)
46,179 44,779
Less: Current maturities......cccoeeceveeeeveeee. L (46,179) (2,500)
$ - $42,279

(a) On August 6, 1996, the Company issued 250 ,etit810,000 per unit, in a private placementobécurities (the "1996 Debentures").
Each unit consisted of: (i) a 10% convertible sdbmated debenture due August 6, 2001 in the prid@mount of $10,000, interest payable
quarterly, and convertible into shares of the Camyfsacommon stock at a conversion price of $3.25pare, subject to dilution, and (ii) 461
redeemable common stock purchase warrants (“watjafach warrant entitled the holder to purchase gshare of common stock for $3.25,
subject to adjustment during the five-year periothmencing August 6, 1996. On August 15, 2001, the@any repaid in full the debentures
with proceeds from the Company's convertible preorig notes issued pursuant to a bridge loan tréosadiscussed in Note I(b). All of the
warrants have expired unexercised.

(b) On March 10, 1998, the Company completed aapeivffering consisting of 5% convertible seniczised debentures (the 1998
Debentures") due March 15, 2003, and warrants tohase 2,244,667 shares of the Company's commok at@n exercise price of $1.404
and 2,189,511 shares at an exercise price of $2#16h expire on March 10, 2005. The 1998 Debeastare convertible into shares of the
Company's common stock at a conversion price ef(BlL.The net proceeds to the Company from the terietiering, after the deduction of
related offering expenses of $1,236,000 for legal iavestment banker fees, was approximately $4900®. These related offering costs are
being amortized over the
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remaining five-year life of the related debentuRsrsuant to certain provisions contained in theéséfaTerm Loan (Note 1(d)), certain
interest payments on the 1998 Debentures to inkgsie agreed, are to be made in the form of additidebentures. As of December 31,
2001 and 2000, the Company has issued additioh&nderes as payment of accrued interest on the D@B8&ntures of $3,166,000 and
$1,965,000, respectively.

(c) In June of 1998, the Company received an auititi$5,000,000 in exchange for $5,000,000 of dieives having terms identical to those
issued in the private offering completed in Mar&98, and warrants to purchase 539,583 and 526}8#8s of the Company's common stock
with an exercise price of $1.404 and $2.279, retbyedy.

(d) On May 26, 1999, the Company consummated afioffering of securities for an aggregate puretmice of up to $22,862,000. The
securities issued consisted of 5% convertible sesgoured debentures (the "1999 Debentures") amdnom stock purchase warrants (the
"1999 Warrants"), each of which are substantiadhlyilar to the 1998 Debentures and warrants issyeithid Company. Through July 27, 19
the Company issued approximately $17,862,000 o1 889 Debentures.

The 1999 Debentures were issued at par, will beadueeand payable as to principal on March 15, 20@8Binterest is accrued at the rate of
5% per annum and is payable on a quarterly basisuBnt to certain provisions contained in the \WafBerm Loan (Note I(d)), interest
payments on certain of the 1999 Debentures, agdgaee to be made in the form of additional dalrest As of December 31, 2001 and
2000, the Company has issued additional debenasreayment of accrued interest on the 1999 Delesafr$1,718,000 and $831,000,
respectively.

The 1999 Debentures are convertible into sharéseo€ompany's common stock at a conversion pri@d @f04 per share. The 1999 Warri
are exercisable for an aggregate of approximat@@&8602 shares of the Company's common stocku€bf warrants, 1,804,301 warrants are
exercisable at $1.404 per share and the remain80z B01 warrants are exercisable at $2.285 peesha

At December 31, 2001, the Company has reserve® 3462 shares of its common stock for the convarsfdhe 1998 Debentures and the
1999 Debentures.

(e) Approximately $7,037,000 of the 1999 Debentuvese issued in exchange for the surrender ofeadikount of principal and accrued
interest outstanding under the Company's convergibbmissory notes issued pursuant to various étiolgns received in the aggregate
amount of $10,533,000 during the period from Audi298 through and including May 1999 (the "1993Be Loans"). In exchange for the
creditors granting extensions on maturity datethefCompany's bridge loans, the Company issuecamarto purchase 1,025,049 shares of
the Company's common stock at exercise pricesmgrigpm $1.18 to $2.32.

Debt discount resulting from the issuance of stwakrants in connection with the issuance of sulmateid debt is recorded as a reduction of
the related obligations at the warrant's relataiealue and is
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amortized as additional expense over the remaiifangf the related obligations. At December 31020outstanding warrants giving rise to
debt discount for related debentures are as follows

WARRANTS ACCUMULATED  UNAMORTIZED  REMAINING
RELATED TO ORIGINAL AMORTIZATION AT DEBT DISCOUNT AT CONTRACTUAL
DEBENTURES NUMBER OF DEBT DECEMBER 31, DECEMBER 31,  LIFE

ABOVE EXERCISE PRICES WARRANTS DISCOUNT 2001 2001 (MONTHS)

(IN THOUSANDS)

(b)  $1.40 and $2.28 4,434,178 $2,263 $1,697 $ 566 39

(c) $1.40and $2.28 1,065,908 1,200 745 455 39

(d)  $1.40 and $2.29 3,608,602 4,034 2,700 1,334 5310 55

9,108,688 $7,497 $5,142 $2,355

NOTE | -- NOTES PAYABLE
At December 31, 2001 and 2000, notes payable dedsis the following:

DECEMBER 31,

2001 2000

(IN THOUSANDS)
Unsecured promissory demand notes(a)......ccc....... $ - $1844
Bridge loans(b) and (C)........oooovvvvvvvvveeeee 2,500
Capital lease obligations........ccccccceeeeeee. L 68

Term note payable(d)........cccceeveevvveevceeeee $17,500 $12,000

(a) During the period from May 1997 through Jun87,3he Company borrowed $3,000,000 from a custg@uesuant to five unsecured,
demand promissory notes. The advances made werefaproposed investment by the customer in thm@ny, including the proposed
purchase of the Company's Indiana facility as welh partial tender offer for the Company's comstook. Pursuant to an agreement rea
between the parties, the Company is required tsfgaterest on the outstanding indebtedness canauial basis while the indebtedness
remains outstanding and to satisfy the principabam of such indebtedness in the form of produtivelées to the customer until such time
as the indebtedness is satisfied in full. At Decen#ii, 2001, the entire $3,000,000 and accruedessithas been repaid by the Company
through product deliveries to the customer.

(b) In addition to the 1999 Bridge Loans discusiseote H(e), the Company secured bridge finanaingrder to provide necessary working
capital prior to the completion of the Watson Téroan as described in Note C. These bridge loanseggted approximately $3,300,000 and
were funded through six separate bridge loan teiwses during the period from December 8, 1999ugtoMarch 29, 2000 (collectively, the
"2000 Bridge Loans"). On March 31, 2000, the tptahcipal amount of the 2000 Bridge Loans and aedrimterest were satisfied in full with
a portion of the proceeds of the Watson Term L&aior to repayment, the 2000 Bridge Loans accrogztést at the rate of 18% per annum
and were secured by a first lien on all of the Canys assets. In consideration for the extensidhe2000 Bridge Loans, the Company
issued warrants to purchase an aggregate amo@@6g¥00 shares of the Company's common stock atisgeprices ranging from $1.19 to
$1.63, expiring between December 2006 and Feb2@0y. All amounts outstanding under the 2000 Bridgans were repaid in 2000.

(c) On August 15, 2001, the Company executed ag@rldban Agreement pursuant to which the Compargived $2,500,000 (the "2001
Bridge Loan"). The proceeds of the 2001 Bridge Laa@ne used by the
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Company to satisfy in full the Company's 10% cotileér subordinated debentures in the principal amofi $2,500,000 issued in August
1996 and which matured on August 6, 2001. The Bxidge Loan bears interest at the rate of 10% peum and is secured by a lien on all
the Company's assets, junior to the security istegented to Watson under the Watson Term Loasdnibr to the security interested
granted to the holders of the Company's 1998 af8 D&bentures. The 2001 Bridge Loan Note is coibterinto common stock at a
conversion price of $3.012 per share, which conermgrice equals the average trading price of them@any's common stock for the 20 days
preceding the closing date. In consideration fergktension of the 2001 Bridge Loan, the Compasyeid warrants expiring August 15, 2C
to purchase an aggregate of 187,500 shares ofdimp&ny's common stock at an exercise price of 3@t share. The relative estimated
value of the warrants, $310,000, has been recadediditional debt discount and was amortized theelife of the bridge loan.

On January 9, 2002, the Company amended the 206geBlcoan to (1) extend the maturity date of thel§e Loan Agreement to April 30,
2002, (2) issue warrants expiring January 9, 20Q8utchase 194,723 shares of the Company's comiock & an exercise price of $1.837
per share in exchange for the extension of the nityatiate, and (3) provide for $4,500,000 of aduial offerings.

The Company borrowed $3,000,000 of the offering®Li®00,000 installments on January 9, Februaand ,March 1, 2002. Common stock
purchase warrants to purchase 75,000 shares Gfdimpany's common stock were issued on Januaryb®u&e 1, and March 1, 2002, at
exercise prices of $1.837, $1.87 and $2.087, réispéc On April 5, 2002, the Company further ameddhe 2001 Bridge Loan to provide
$1,500,000 of additional offerings with a maturdtgte of April 30, 2002. Common stock purchase wasréo purchase 50,000 shares of the
Company's common stock were issued on April 5, 2802an exercise price of $2.01.

The Company has received a commitment to (i) exteadnaturity date of approximately $6,525,000hef outstanding $7,000,000 related to
the 2001 Bridge Loans to January 1, 2003 anduiiyifthe Company's working capital requirementsughoDecember 31, 2002 in the forrr
additional bridge loan financing under terms caesiswith the 2001 Bridge Loans. The commitmentjfes for the Company's issuance of
warrants exercisable for approximately 1,733,000 eh of the Company's common stock in order toneltiee maturity date of the 2001
Bridge Loans. The commitment also provides for@eenpany's issuance of a one time grant of warexescisable for 600,000 shares of the
Company's common stock in consideration for theradment to fund the Company's working capital reguients through 2002 plus
additional warrants as advances are made to thep@uwyrexercisable for 100,000 shares for each $10000n bridge financing having a te

of 90 days.

(d) In connection with various strategic alliannsactions, Watson Pharmaceuticals advanced %18 Dto the Company under a term
loan. The loan is secured by a first lien on alfref Company's assets, senior to the lien secalirgjher Company indebtedness, and carri
floating rate of interest equal to prime plus tvergent and matures on March 31, 2003. The inteagéstat December 31, 2001 was 6.75%.

WARRANTS OUTSTANDI NG
NUMBER WEIGHTED AVERAGE
OUTSTANDING AT  REMAINING WEIGHTED
RANGES OF DECEMBER 31, CONTRACTUAL AVERAGE
EXERCISE PRICES 2001 LIFE (YEARS) EXERCISE PRICE
$1.06 - $1.98 6,188,600 3.63 $1.38
2.13- 2.32 4,711,187 3.69 2.28
3.01 187,500 6.63 3.01
11,087,287

F-17



HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2001, 2000 AND 1999

NOTE J -- INCOME TAXES

Reconciliations between the Federal income taxaatethe Company's effective income tax rate werfeliows:

YE AR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2001 2000 1999
AMOUNT % AMOUNT % AMOUNT %

(D OLLARS IN THOUSANDS)
Federal statutory rate.......... $(4,271) (34.0)% $(4,095) (34.0)% $(6,116) (34.0)%
Loss for which no tax benefit
was provided.................. 4,231 33.7 4,045 33.6 5997 338
Federal tax carryback refund.... (389) (3.4)
Department of Justice
settlement 21 2 26 2 31 A
Other.....cooveviieiiene, 19 1 24 2 88 .1
Actual tax benefit.............. $ - % $ (389 (B4)% $ - %

The Company has net operating loss carryforwardseggting approximately $93,222,000, expiring dyitine years 2011 through 2021.

The tax loss carryforwards of the Company andubsgliaries are subject to limitation by Sectior2 88 the Internal Revenue Code with
respect to the amount utilizable each year. Tm#dition reduces the Company's ability to utiliz¢ aperating loss carryforwards included
above each year. The amount of the limitation labaen quantified by the Company.

F-18



HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2001, 2000 AND 1999

The components of the Company's deferred tax a@isgtiities), pursuant to SFAS No. 109, are surmrized as follows:

DECEMBER 31,

(IN THOUSANDS)
Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryforwards........ccc...... .. $39,455 $ 33,805
ASSEL FESEIVES....cooevieeiiiiiiieeeeeee 315 368
Research and development tax credit............... ... 104 212
Accrued eXpPensSesS......ccccevvvvevccniiiiieee 397 277
Plant shutdown CcOStS.......cccoovvvvvevvccee. - 780
Severance package.......... - -- 45
Capital loss carryforwards........ e 213 216
Depreciation and amortization.................... . .. 408 --
Other. .o 56 49
Gross deferred tax assets.......cccovceveeeee. L 40,948 35,752
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciation........ccoceevvvveieinciiieeaeee (559)
Othel e (42)
(601)
Net deferred tax assets before valuation allow ance..... 40,948 35,151
Valuation allowance.........cccccceeevevviieveeeee (40,948) (35,151)

Net deferred tax assets.........cccoceeeeeeeee. L $ - %

SFAS No. 109 requires a valuation allowance agalefdrred tax assets if, based on the weight dfabla evidence, it is more likely than r
that some or all of the deferred tax assets mapaoealized. The valuation allowance at DecemtiePB01 primarily pertains to
uncertainties with respect to future utilizationnett operating loss carryforwards.

NOTE K -- CESSATION AND RELOCATION OF BROOKLYN, NEW YORK PLANT OPERATIONS

The Company's formal decision to discontinue itsd&kfyn operations was initiated in the fourth qeadf 1999 with notification to its union.
The total charge of approximately $3,220,000 ré@sgitrom eliminating the Brooklyn operation inclugithe lease termination payment of
$1,150,000, a provision of $200,000 for plant repahe write-off of leasehold improvements of ¥B,000, severance and other costs for
terminated employees of $730,000, less deferredoreniously expensed of $638,000.

At December 31, 2000, the Company recorded a chargpproximately $53,000 representing additioealesance costs. At December 31,
2001, the Company recorded a charge of approxign&68,000 representing loss on disposal of idlediassets.

NOTE L -- INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE AND IMPAIRMEN T CHARGE

The Company entered into a 50% joint venture inrra@ty 2000 for the purpose of engaging in the dgweknt, manufacture and marketing
of various products. The joint venture was accadifiee under the
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equity method. In the fourth quarter of 2001, tlmrPany recorded an impairment charge of $151,000Q,veas determined that the fair value
of such investment was zero, due to the uncertaiftiye joint venture's ability to raise additiomalpital or to generate income from
operations.

NOTE M -- PRODUCT AGREEMENTS
1. ACQUISITION OF BARR LABORATORIES, INC. ANDA

On April 16, 1999, the Company completed an actjoisagreement with Barr Laboratories, Inc. ("Baptoviding for the Company's
purchase of the rights to 50 pharmaceutical prad({ibe "Barr Products"). Under the terms of theu&ition agreement with Barr, the
Company acquired all of Barr's rights in the BanwdRicts, including all related governmental appteymcluding ANDAS) and related
technical data and information. In considerationtfie acquisition of the Barr Products, the Compiaayed to Barr a common stock purchase
warrant exercisable for 500,000 shares of the Cogip@ommon stock having an exercise price of #50&r share (the fair value of the
Common Stock on the date of issuance) and havtagraof five years. The Company valued the warrah®350,000 using the Black
Scholes option pricing model. Accordingly, the Ca@mp recorded a deferred charge to be amortized agense to the Company's
operations over a ten-year period which is thevestd life of the related ANDAs. The acquisitiomegment with Barr also allows Barr to
purchase any of the Barr Products manufacturetidy"ompany for a period of five years.

2. COMMERCIALIZATION AND LICENSE AGREEMENT

Effective September 27, 2000, the Company enteradain exclusive license for certain patented teldgy owned by Bio-Fine
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Bibine") for the synthesis of codeine from morphifilee agreement provided for a fixed amount of $3,00G to be
paid out as certain milestones are achieved wittah of $500,000 paid during 2000. The agreembsat provided for the grant of 50,000
warrants and an employment agreement, both comting®mn FDA approval and first commercial sale,chhias not yet occurred.

In November 2001, the Company notified Bioie of its election to immediately terminate tloenenercialization and license agreement. L
termination of this agreement, the contingent waread employment agreement expired. No additiammaunts were paid during 2001.

NOTE N -- EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
1. EMPLOYEES' PENSION PLAN

The Company contributed approximately $19,000, @3®and $68,000, in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respégtivea multiemployer pension

plan for employees covered by collective bargairdiggeements. This plan is not administered by th@gany and contributions are
determined in accordance with provisions of negetidabor contracts. Information with respect te @ompany's proportionate share of the
excess, if any, of the actuarially computed valfieested benefits over the total of the pensiom’plaet assets is not available from the plan's
administrator.

The Multiemployer Pension Plan Amendments Act @@ &he "Act") significantly increased the pensiesponsibilities of participating
employers. Under the provision of the Act, if tHans terminate or the Company withdraws, the Comganld be subject to a "withdrawal
liability."
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2. 401(k) AND PROFIT-SHARING PLAN

Effective October 1, 1998, the Company establishd@1(k) and profit-sharing plan for all employedéser than those covered under
collective bargaining agreements. Eligible empleysmy elect to make a basic contribution of up.584lof their annual earnings. The plan
provides that the Company can make discretionatgmray contributions equal to 25% of the first 6%employee contributions for an
aggregate employee contribution of 1.5%, along w&itliscretionary profit-sharing contribution. Ther@pany incurred no expense under the
plan in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

3. STOCK OPTION PLANS

In September 1995, the stockholders of the Compapyoved the adoption of a stock option and rdsttistock purchase plan (the "1995
Option Plan™). The 1995 Option Plan provides fa ¢gfmanting of (i) nonqualified options to purchése Company's common stock at not less
than the fair market value on the date of the opgant, (ii) incentive stock options to purchase €ompany's common stock at not less than
the fair market value on the date of the optiomgeand (iii) rights to purchase the Company's comstock on a "Restricted Stock" basis, as
defined, at not less than the fair market valu¢hendate the right is granted. The total numbeshafres which may be sold pursuant to options
and rights granted under the 1995 Option PlanG8,000. No option can be granted under the 193®Oplan after May 2005 and no

option can be outstanding for more than ten yefées iés grant. At December 31, 2001, 56,540 sharesavailable for grant under the 1995
Option Plan.

In June 1998, the stockholders of the Company aprthe adoption of a stock option and restrictedkspurchase plan (the "1998 Option
Plan™). The 1998 Option Plan provides for the granof (i) nonqualified options to purchase the Qamy's common stock at a price
determined by the Stock Option Committee, andr{@gntive stock options to purchase the Compamytsneon stock at not less than the fair
market value on the date of the option grant. Adirgs of stock options have been at the fair marakete on the date of grant. In June 2001,
the shareholders of the Company approved a respltdiincrease the total number of shares which Ineasold pursuant to options and rights
granted under the 1998 Option Plan to 8,100,0000pimn can be granted under the 1998 Option Fian April 2008 and no option can be
outstanding for more than ten years after its grahDecember 31, 2001, 4,285,383 are availablgfant under the 1998 Option Plan.

The Company has adopted the disclosure provisib8tatement of Financial Accounting Standards Na® ('SFAS No. 123"), "Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation.” It applies APB QginiNo. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Emplay@and related interpretations in
accounting for its plans and does not recognizepemrsation expense for its stock-based compensaltios. If the Company had elected to
recognize compensation expense based upon theafa@ at the grant date for awards under theses glansistent with the methodology
prescribed by SFAS No. 123, the Company's net ikcantd earnings per share would be reduced to thispna amounts indicated below:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2001 2000 1999
(THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Net loss

As reported.........ccceeeeieeiieeiieecienn .. $(12,563) $(11,654) $(20,063)

Proforma.......cccooooiiiiiiiiineeeeen .. (14,242) (13,753) (20,954)
Loss per share

As reported.........cocveiiieiiiieiiee i . $ (84) $ (80) $ (140

Pro forma.......cccoooiiiiiiiiin . (.95) (.95) (1.46)
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These pro forma amounts may not be representdtifigume disclosures because they do not takeeffert pro forma compensation exper
related to grants made before 1995. The fair vafibese options was estimated at the date of giging the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model with the following weighted average assumpifor the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000.29@, respectively: expected
volatility of 86%, 73% and 73%; risk-free intereates of 5.3%, 7.0% and 6.8%; expected dividenld yiE0% for all periods; and expected
lives of 10 years for all periods. At the date tdrg, all exercise prices equaled the market vafube stock.

Transactions involving stock options under all glane summarized as follows:

WEIGHTED WEIGHTED
STOCK  AVERAGE AVERAGE
OPTIONS EXERCISE FAIR
OUTSTANDING PRICE  VALUE

Balance at January 1, 1999...........cccccccveenne ... 2,225,286 $2.46
Granted................ ... 503500 119 $.80
Forfeited (118,567) 3.08
Balance at December 31, 1999............cccvveees .... 2,610,219 2.19
Granted..........coceveeeeiiiiiie e ... 2,262,000 1.50 1.38
Forfeited........coovvieieiiiiiee e ... (350,902) 2.04
Balance at December 31, 2000.............cccevveeee ... 4,521,317 1.86
Granted........cooovviiiiiii e ... 540,000 2.15 1.87
EXercised........ccooueveiiiiiieiiiiiieeee ... (52,000) 1.84
Forfeited.........coviieiiiiiiee e ... (419,367) 2.29
Balance at December 31, 2001....................... ... 4,689,950 $1.85

The following table summarizes information concagncurrently outstanding and exercisable stockoogti

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING

WEIGHTED e
NUMBER AVERAGE W EIGHTED NUMBER WEIGHTED
OUTSTANDING AT REMAINING A VERAGE EXERCISABLE AT AVERAGE
RANGES OF DECEMBER 31, CONTRACTUAL E XERCISE DECEMBER 31, EXERCISE
EXERCISE PRICES 2001 LIFE (YEARS) PRICE 2001 PRICE
.$64 - $2.00... 2,372,500 8.28 $1.32 654,000 $1.31
2.01- 3.00.. 2,168,850 7.06 2.40 1,244,138 2.39
3.01- 4.38.. 48,600 8.12 3.31 13,600 4.06
4,589,950 1,911,738

NOTE O -- COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company occupies plant and office facilitied@mnoncancellable operating leases which expidelire 2004. These operating leases
provide for scheduled base rent increases ovdetheof the lease; however, the total amount obie rent payments will be charged to
operations using the straigltie method over the term of the lease. The lepe®dde for payment of real estate taxes based agmercentac
of the annual increase. In addition, the Companysreertain equipment under operating leases, giyéor terms of two years or less. Total
rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2000,and 1999 was approximately $986,000, $1,807ab0d $1,574,000, respectively.
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LEASE OF CONGERS, NEW YORK FACILITY (BRENNER DRIVE LOCATION)

Effective March 22, 1999, the Company leased, Bsteaant, a pharmaceutical manufacturing facititated in Congers, New York (the
"Brenner Drive Facility") from Par Pharmaceuticais;. ("Par") pursuant to an Agreement to Lease (tlease”). The Brenner Drive Facility
contains office, warehouse and manufacturing spadds approximately 35,000 square feet. The Lpeséddes for a term of three years,
with a two-year renewal option, and provides fonued fixed rent of $500,000 per year during thenany term of the Lease and $600,000 per
year during the option period. The Lease also cwertain manufacturing and related equipment ptesly used by Par in its operations

the Brenner Drive Facility (the "Leased Equipmeniti)connection with the execution of the Lease,@lmmpany and Par entered into a
certain Option Agreement pursuant to which the Camypgmay purchase the Brenner Drive Facility and_gssed Equipment at any time
during the lease term for $5,000,000. The Compaiy $100,000 for the right to exercise the Optigreéement any time during the primary
term of three years. The right to exercise the @pfigreement any time during the two-year reneveaiqa is $150,000. In September 2001,
the Company notified Par that it had exerciseddfst to the extend the lease on the Brenner C¥agility for two years commencing on
March 22, 2002. In March 2002, the Company paid$2&0,000 to secure the right to exercise the @piigreement.

As part of the execution of the Lease, the CommartyPar entered into a certain Manufacturing ampyuAgreement (the "M&S
Agreement") having a minimum term of twenty-sevesnths. The M&S Agreement provided for the Companglstract manufacture of
certain designated products manufactured by PlaedBrenner Drive Facility prior to the effectivatd of the Lease. The M&S Agreement
also provided that Par will purchase a minimum Bfl$0,000 in product during the initial eighteenntins of the Agreement. The M&S
Agreement further provides that the Company wil manufacture, supply, develop or distribute theiglgated products to be supplied by the
Company to Par under the M&S Agreement to or for ather person for a period of three years.

LEASE OF CONGERS, NEW YORK FACILITY (WELLS AVENUE L OCATION)

Effective July 1, 2000, the Company leased, astenlant, a facility located at 125 Wells Avenuen@ers, New York (the "Wells Avenue
Facility"). The Wells Avenue Facility contains afi, warehouse and manufacturing space and is dapmatety 18,000 square feet. The lease
provides for a term of four years with an optiomreaew for an additional three years and providesihnual fixed rent of approximately
$127,000 per year during the first two years ofldzse and approximately $135,000 per year duhiadast two years.

As of December 31, 2001, the approximate minimumalecommitments under these operating leasessdialaws:

(IN THOUSANDS)
Twelve months ending December 31,

2002.ccciiiiii e $ 751
2003, 770
2004 223
Total minimum payments required................ ... $1,744
EMPLOYMENT CONTRACTS

During March 1998, the Company entered into empkayhtontracts with each of two new officers/ empkeg of the Company which cove
five-year and a three-year period, respectivelye gbntracts
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provide for, among other things: (i) annual sakoe$175,000 and $140,000 to be paid over theyear and thregear periods, respective
and (ii) an aggregate of 1,300,000 options to pagselthe Company's stock at an exercise price 88%&r common share that vest evenly
over a three-to-five-year service period and exjpiren years. In April 2000, these contracts wextiended to April 30, 2005. In 2001, the
annual salaries under these contracts were ina¢a$200,000 and $155,000, respectively.

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE SETTLEMENT

On June 21, 1993, the Company entered into a Rieeefnent with the U.S. Department of Justice (D@J") to resolve the DOJ's
investigation into the manufacturing and recordpkeg practices of the Company's Brooklyn, New Yplknt. The Plea Agreement required
the Company to pay a fine of $2,500,000 over figarg in quarterly installments of $125,000, comnrenon or about September 15, 1993.

As of February 28, 1998, the Company was in defafuthe payment terms of the Plea Agreement anchiede payments aggregating
$350,000. On May 8, 1998, the Company and the Dghéd the Letter Agreement serving to amend tha Rigreement relating to the terms
of the Company's satisfaction of the fine assessee@r the Plea Agreement. Specifically, the Letigreement provided that the Company
will satisfy the remaining $2,150,000 of the filredugh the payment of $25,000 on a monthly basisneencing June 1, 1998, plus interes
such outstanding balance (at the rate calculatezsbpat to 28 U.S.C Section 1961 (5.319%). Such payischedule will result in the full
satisfaction of the DOJ fine in July 2005. The Eethgreement also provides certain restrictionshenpayment of salary or compensation to
any individual in excess of certain amounts withtht written consent of the DOJ. In addition, thedter Agreement requires the repaymel
the outstanding fine to the extent of 25% of thenPany's after-tax profit or 25% of the net proceedtived by the Company on any sale of
a capital asset for a sum in excess of $10,00Mtifnvested in another capital asset. At Decer3lheR001, the Company is current in its
payment obligations with a remaining obligatiorsdf074,000.

OTHER LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Beginning in 1992, actions were commenced agaiesCompany and numerous other pharmaceutical matnoéas, in connection with the
alleged exposure to diethylstilbestrol ("DES"). Tdefense of all of such matters was assumed bgdinepany's insurance carrier, and a
substantial number have been settled by the ca@iarently, several actions remain pending with@ompany as a defendant in the
Pennsylvania Court of Common Pleas, Philadelphiésiain, and the insurance carrier is defending eation. The Company and its legal
counsel do not believe any of such actions willthavmaterial impact on the Company's financial @¢@rd The ultimate outcome of these
lawsuits cannot be determined at this time, andraiegly, no adjustment has been made to the cmlaet financial statements.

In addition, the Company is a party to legal mataising in the general conduct of business. Ttimate outcome of such matters is not
expected to have a material adverse effect on timep@ny's results of operations or financial positio

NOTE P -- SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Through its strategic alliance with Watson, as ulsed in Note C, the Company sells its portfolicare products under the Watson label for
distribution by Watson to drugstore chains and dvhiglesalers. The Company continues to performtdichcontract manufacturing of certain
non-core products for other customers. The Companfprms ongoing credit evaluations of its custarard generally does not require
collateral. During 2001, the Company had net prbdexnenues to one customer in excess of 10% dfpgadauct revenues, accounting for
86% of total product revenues. During 2000, the gany had net product revenues to one customerciessxof 10% of total product
revenues aggregating to 59% of total product
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revenues. During 1999, the Company had net pragwenues to one customer in excess of 10% of potaluct revenues, aggregating 169
total product revenues.

During 2001 and 2000, the Company purchased appedgly $1,512,000 and $1,485,000 respectivelytsafaw materials, representing
approximately 25% and 28%, in each year, of t@al material purchases from one supplier.

NOTE Q -- QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

1ST 2 ND 3RD 4TH
QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA QUARTER QUA RTER QUARTER QUARTER YEAR
(AMOUNTSINT HOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
2001
Net product revenues.............. $7,966 $1 962 $5,326 $1,675 $16,929
Operating income (l0ss)........... 1,431 (2 ,985)  (293) (4,092) (5,939)
Net income (l0SS).......cccceuuuee (106) (4 ,596) (1,903) (5,958) (12,563)
Earnings (loss) per share-basic
and diluted.................... $ (01) $ (.30) $ (113) $ (.40) $ (.84)
2000
Net product revenues.............. $3,151 $9 ,066 $4,686 $3,320 $20,223
Operating income (loss)........... (2,585) 2 ,140 (2,474) (3,683) (6,602)
Net income (I0sS)................. (4,082) 945 (4,124) (4,393) (11,654)
Earnings (loss) per share-basic
and diluted................... $ (28) $ .07 $ (.28) $ (.31) $ (.80)
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EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

We have issued our report dated February 15, 28@2pt for Notes B and | as to which the date iglA®, 2002, accompanying the
consolidated financial statements included in thauwal Report of Halsey Drug Co., Inc. and Subsiééon Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2001. We hereby consent to the incatipa by reference of said report in the RegigiraStatements of Halsey Drug Co., Inc.
on Forms S-8 (Registration Nos. 333-63288 and 3588 pertaining to the 1998 Stock Option Plan #ied1995 Stock Option Plan.

GRANT THORNTON LLP

Melville, New York
April 15, 2002
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